Public Document Pack
Email: committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk
Direct line: 01403 215465

Planning Committee (North)
Tuesday, 2nd November, 2021 at 5.30 pm
Conference Room, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham

Councillors:

Karen Burgess (Chairman)
Liz Kitchen (Vice-Chairman)
Matthew Allen
Andrew Baldwin
Tony Bevis
Martin Boffey
Toni Bradnum
Alan Britten
Peter Burgess
Christine Costin
Brian Donnelly
Ruth Fletcher
Billy Greening
Frances Haigh
Tony Hogben

Lynn Lambert
Richard Landeryou
Gordon Lindsay
John Milne
Colin Minto
Christian Mitchell
Louise Potter
Stuart Ritchie
David Skipp
Ian Stannard
Claire Vickers
Belinda Walters
Tricia Youtan

You are summoned to the meeting to transact the following business
Glen Chipp
Chief Executive

Agenda

Page No.
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
1.

Apologies for absence

2.

Minutes
To approve as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 7 September 2021
(Note: If any Member wishes to propose an amendment to the minutes they
should submit this in writing to committeeservices@horsham.gov.uk at least 24
hours before the meeting. Where applicable, the audio recording of the
meeting will be checked to ensure the accuracy of the proposed amendment.)

3.

Declarations of Members' Interests
To receive any declarations of interest from Members of the Committee

4.

Announcements

Horsham District Council, Parkside, Chart Way, Horsham, West Sussex RH12 1RL
Telephone: 01403 215100 (calls may be recorded) Horsham.gov.uk Chief Executive – Glen Chipp

Corporate & Democratic Services
www.hastings.gov.uk/meetings

7 - 12

To receive any announcements from the Chairman of the Committee or the
Chief Executive
To consider the following reports of the Head of Development & Building Control and to take
such action thereon as may be necessary:
5.

Appeals
Applications for determination by Committee:

13 - 16

6.

DC/21/1067 - Plot C1, Oakhurst Business Park, Wilberforce Way,
Southwater

17 - 36

Ward: Southwater North
Applicant: c/o Agent
7.

DC/21/1539 - Land at Easteds Barn, Easteds Lane, Southwater

37 - 48

Ward: Southwater North
Applicant: Southwater Parish Council
8.

DC/21/0510 - Easteds Barn, Easteds Lane, Southwater

49 - 56

Ward: Southwater North
Applicant: Southwater Parish Council
9.

DC/21/0511 - Easteds Barn, Easteds Lane, Southwater

57 - 64

Ward: Southwater North
Applicant: Southwater Parish Council
10.

DC/21/1364 - St Peter's Hall, Three Acres, Horsham

65 - 72

Ward: Denne
Applicant: Peter Williams
11.

DC/21/0799 - 54 Merryfield Drive, Horsham

73 - 78

Ward: Trafalgar
Applicant: Martin Boffey
12.

DC/21/0127 - Lower Toat Barn, Five Oaks Road, Slinfold
Ward: Itchingfield, Slinfold & Warnham
Applicant: Mrs Laura Temple

13.

Urgent Business
Items not on the agenda which the Chairman of the meeting is of the opinion
should be considered as urgent because of the special circumstances

79 - 86

Agenda Annex
GUIDANCE ON PLANNING COMMITTEE PROCEDURE
(Full details in Part 4a of the Council’s Constitution)
Addressing the
Committee

Members must address the meeting through the Chair. When the
Chairman wishes to speak during a debate, any Member speaking at
the time must stop.

Minutes

Any comments or questions should be limited to the accuracy of the
minutes only.

Quorum

Quorum is one quarter of the total number of Committee Members. If
there is not a quorum present, the meeting will adjourn immediately.
Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the
Chairman. If a date is not fixed, the remaining business will be
considered at the next committee meeting.

Declarations of
Interest

Members should state clearly in which item they have an interest and
the nature of the interest (i.e. personal; personal & prejudicial; or
pecuniary). If in doubt, seek advice from the Monitoring Officer in
advance of the meeting.

Announcements

These should be brief and to the point and are for information only – no
debate/decisions.

Appeals

The Chairman will draw the Committee’s attention to the appeals listed
in the agenda.

Agenda Items

The Planning Officer will give a presentation of the application, referring
to any addendum/amended report as appropriate outlining what is
proposed and finishing with the recommendation.

Public Speaking on
Agenda Items
(Speakers must give
notice by not later than
noon two working
days before the date
of the meeting)

Parish and neighbourhood councils in the District are allowed 5 minutes
each to make representations; members of the public who object to the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes; applicants and members of the public who support the
planning application are allowed 2 minutes each, subject to an overall
limit of 6 minutes. Any time limits may be changed at the discretion of
the Chairman.

Rules of Debate

The Chairman controls the debate and normally follows these rules
but the Chairman’s interpretation, application or waiver is final.
- No speeches until a proposal has been moved (mover may explain
purpose) and seconded
- Chairman may require motion to be written down and handed to
him/her before it is discussed
- Seconder may speak immediately after mover or later in the debate
- Speeches must relate to the planning application under discussion or
a personal explanation or a point of order (max 5 minutes or longer at
the discretion of the Chairman)
- A Member may not speak again except:
o On an amendment to a motion
o To move a further amendment if the motion has been
amended since he/she last spoke
o If the first speech was on an amendment, to speak on the
main issue (whether or not the amendment was carried)
o In exercise of a right of reply. Mover of original motion

Page 3

-

-

-

-

has a right to reply at end of debate on original motion
and any amendments (but may not otherwise speak on
amendment). Mover of amendment has no right of reply.
o On a point of order – must relate to an alleged breach of
Council Procedure Rules or law. Chairman must hear
the point of order immediately. The ruling of the
Chairman on the matter will be final.
o Personal explanation – relating to part of an earlier
speech by the Member which may appear to have been
misunderstood. The Chairman’s ruling on the
admissibility of the personal explanation will be final.
Amendments to motions must be to:
o Refer the matter to an appropriate body/individual for
(re)consideration
o Leave out and/or insert words or add others (as long as
this does not negate the motion)
One amendment at a time to be moved, discussed and decided
upon.
Any amended motion becomes the substantive motion to which
further amendments may be moved.
A Member may alter a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
A Member may withdraw a motion that he/she has moved with the
consent of the meeting and seconder (such consent to be signified
without discussion).
The mover of a motion has the right of reply at the end of the debate
on the motion (unamended or amended).

Alternative Motion to
Approve

If a Member moves an alternative motion to approve the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to refuse), and it is
seconded, Members will vote on the alternative motion after debate. If a
majority vote against the alternative motion, it is not carried and
Members will then vote on the original recommendation.

Alternative Motion to
Refuse

If a Member moves an alternative motion to refuse the application
contrary to the Planning Officer’s recommendation (to approve), the
Mover and the Seconder must give their reasons for the alternative
motion. The Director of Planning, Economic Development and Property
or the Head of Development will consider the proposed reasons for
refusal and advise Members on the reasons proposed. Members will
then vote on the alternative motion and if not carried will then vote on
the original recommendation.

Voting

Any matter will be decided by a simple majority of those voting, by show
of hands or if no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting unless:
- Two Members request a recorded vote
- A recorded vote is required by law.
Any Member may request their vote for, against or abstaining to be
recorded in the minutes.
In the case of equality of votes, the Chairman will have a second or
casting vote (whether or not he or she has already voted on the issue).

Vice-Chairman

In the Chairman’s absence (including in the event the Chairman is
required to leave the Chamber for the debate and vote), the ViceChairman controls the debate and follows the rules of debate as above.

Page 4

Original recommendation to APPROVE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – APPROVED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT
A REFUSAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Member to move
alternative motion
to REFUSE and give
planning reasons

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 5

Director considers
planning reasons

Vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
amended condition(s)
carried – APPROVED

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to REFUSE1

Majority against?
Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
Alternative motion
to APPROVE with
to REFUSE carried
amended condition(s) - REFUSED
not carried – VOTE ON
ORIGINAL RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to REFUSE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated
1

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Subject to Director’s power to refer application to Full Council if cost implications are likely.

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Original recommendation to REFUSE application
Members in support during debate

Members not in support during debate

Vote on original recommendation

Majority in favour?
Original recommendation
carried – REFUSED

Majority against?
Original recommendation
not carried – THIS IS NOT AN
APPROVAL OF THE APPLICATION

Member to move
alternative motion
to APPROVE and give
planning reasons2

Member to move
alternative motion
to DEFER and give
reasons (e.g. further
information required)

Another Member
seconds

Another member
seconds

Page 6

Director considers
planning reasons

If reasons are valid
vote on alternative
motion to APPROVE

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE carried
- APPROVED

*Or further alternative motion moved and procedure repeated

2

Oakley v South Cambridgeshire District Council and another [2017] EWCA Civ 71

If reasons are not valid
VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to APPROVE not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Vote on alternative
motion to DEFER

Majority in favour?
Alternative motion
to DEFER carried
- DEFERRED

Majority against?
Alternative motion
to DEFER not carried
- VOTE ON ORIGINAL
RECOMMENDATION*

Agenda Item 2
Planning Committee (North)
7 SEPTEMBER 2021

Present:

Councillors: Karen Burgess (Chairman), Liz Kitchen (Vice-Chairman),
Matthew Allen, Andrew Baldwin, Tony Bevis, Martin Boffey,
Roy Cornell, Christine Costin, Brian Donnelly, Ruth Fletcher,
Billy Greening, Frances Haigh, Tony Hogben, Lynn Lambert,
Gordon Lindsay, Christian Mitchell, Louise Potter, Stuart Ritchie,
David Skipp, Claire Vickers and Belinda Walters

Apologies:

Councillors: Toni Bradnum, Alan Britten, Peter Burgess,
Richard Landeryou, John Milne, Colin Minto, Ian Stannard and
Tricia Youtan

PCN/29 MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting of the Committee held on 6 July were approved as a
correct record and signed by the Chairman.

PCN/30 DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS' INTERESTS
DC/21/1524 – Councillor Claire Vickers declared a personal interest in this item
because of the proximity of the site to her home.
DC/21/1524 – Councillor Billy Greening declared a personal interest in this item
because he was a member of the Bluecoat’s Gym.
DC/21/0625 – Councillor Claire Vickers declared a personal interest in this item
because she knew one of the objectors.

PCN/31 ANNOUNCEMENTS
There were no announcements.
PCN/32 APPEALS
The list of appeals lodged, appeals in progress and appeal decisions, as circulated,
was noted.

PCN/33 DC/21/1524 - CHRIST'S HOSPITAL SCHOOL, THE AVENUE, CHRIST'S
HOSPITAL
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought permission for various additional sports and recreation facilities, as
detailed in the report, additional car parking and landscaping.
Members were advised of two corrections to the report: the time period sought
for the commencement of the development set out in Condition 2 was to be five
1

Page 7

Planning Committee (North)
7 September 2021

years, not three; and, at paragraph 1.18, the net increase of eight metres in
hedgerows was between the initial proposal in 2018 and the current scheme.
The actual increase in hedgerow length would be some 553 metres.
The application was a re-submission of application DC/19/1149, which had
been refused on landscape grounds by the Committee in September 2019
(Minute No PCN/34 (03.09.19) refers.). The applicant had sought to address
the reason for refusal by submitting a further Landscape and Visual Appraisal.
The re-submitted scheme was very similar to the refused one, with additional
tree planting, as recommended in the LVA, and 47 electric vehicle charging
points.
The applicants had also lodged an appeal. This had been delayed until
November and the current application sought a quicker less costly route to
obtaining permission.
The application site was located outside and adjacent to the built-up area
boundary of Christ’s Hospital. It was grassland used for sports pitches in the
summer months in the northern part of the school campus. The sports centre
was used by the school and members of the public. Properties in Barnes Wallis
Avenue and Bluecoat Ponds were close to the northwest boundary.
The Parish Council objected to the application. There had been 26
representations objecting to the application, one neutral, and two in support.
Two of the objections had been received since publication of the report; these
related to issues addressed in the report. Three members of the public spoke in
objection to the application. The applicant, applicant’s agent and the applicant’s
Transport Consultant all addressed the Committee in support of the proposal.
Members noted the planning history of the site and considered the consultation
responses and the officer’s planning assessment. Key issues for consideration
in determining the proposal were: the principle of development and
assessment of the benefits; landscape impacts and trees; design, layout and
specification of the proposed facilities; heritage; highways considerations;
amenity impact including noise and lighting; drainage; and ecology.
Members assessed the benefits of the scheme to both the school and wider
community and weighed these against a number of concerns raised by
Councillors and members of the public.
Whilst it was acknowledged that the Highways Authority had not objected,
Members were concerned at the impact of traffic generated by the scheme,
including the impact of construction traffic and of large occasional events that
may be arranged by the school. The need to address drainage concerns was
also discussed.
A number of amendments to the conditions attached to the report were
proposed to address these concerns. The proposal was seconded. Members
concluded that with these amended and additional conditions the proposal was
acceptable.

Page
2 8

Planning Committee (North)
7 September 2021

3

It was also agreed that an Informative would be added to the decision notice
requesting that the applicant work positively with the Highways Authority and
Horsham District Council to investigate cycle and pedestrian safety
improvement solutions should evidence demonstrate that the development was
impacting on users of the nearby roads.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/21/1524 be granted subject to the following
amendments and additions to the conditions as set out in the report:
i)

Condition 2 to be amended to a 5-year commencement.

ii)

The details pursuant to Conditions 4 (Construction Environment
Management Plan) and 13 (Event Management Plan) to be agreed in
consultation with the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Local Members

iii)

The addition of a surface water drainage condition, with the details to
be agreed in consultation with the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and
Local Members.

iv)

The addition of a condition to prevent the importation of spoil (soil
and other fill materials) onto the site.

v)

The details pursuant to Condition 18 (cycle parking) to be agreed in
consultation with the Chairman, Vice-Chairman and Local Members.

PCN/34 DC/21/0625 - PHASE 4, UNIT 22 - 29 OAKHURST BUSINESS PARK,
WILBERFORCE WAY, SOUTHWATER
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought permission for a variation of Condition 15 of permission DC/19/1738,
which related to permission DC/17/1023 for eight business units.
Condition 15 related to the hours of operation permitted on the site. The
variation would extend hours of operation until 9.00pm Mondays to Friday
(instead of 6.00pm) and to 6.00pm on weekends and public holidays (instead of
1.00pm).
The application site was located within the built-up area of Southwater within
the established business park, which was a Key Employment Area. The site
and its immediate neighbours were owned by the Council. A bund with dense
vegetation surrounded the southwest and northwest boundaries and screened
the site from the Worthing Road and nearby properties.
There had been three public consultations: the first based on the initial proposal
for 24 hour operation; the second two on the reduced hours currently proposed
(the third clarified the unit numbers). The Parish Council objected to the first

Page3 9

Planning Committee (North)
7 September 2021

and second consultation. There had been nine representations objecting to the
first consultation; seven objections to the second; and three objections to the
third. One letter of support had been received. Since publication of the report,
a further objection had been received relating to potential noise disturbance.
Two members of the public spoke in objection to the application and the
applicant’s agent addressed the Committee in support of the proposal.
Members considered the officer’s planning assessment which indicated that the
key issues for consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of
development; the need for the variation in hours of operation; and amenity
impacts and the revised Noise Assessment.
Members discussed their concerns regarding the amenity impacts of the
proposal on neighbouring residents, and weighed these against the potential
benefits to the local economy.
Members considered that, with further marketing, the units could be let with the
current hours of operation and by extending the hours a precedent could be set
for other units within the business park. There was also concern that it would
not be possible to control the type of noise that future occupiers of the units
might generate.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/21/0625 be refused for the following reason:
The proposed alteration to the hours of operation condition would result in
significant harm to the amenities of neighbouring occupiers by way of
noise and disturbance that would not outweigh the benefits, contrary to
policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
PCN/35 DC/21/1274 - THE OWL BARN, THE MOUNT, IFIELD
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought permission for the demolition of an agricultural barn and the erection of
a single storey barn-style 2-bedroom dwelling. The barn to be demolished was
subject to prior approval for conversion to a residential dwelling.
The application site was located outside the built-up area boundary between
Rusper and Crawley. The new dwelling would be slightly to the south-east of
the barn, with amenity space to the south.
The Parish Council had not commented on the application. There had been
three public representations supporting the proposal.
Members noted the consultation responses set out in the report and considered
the officer’s planning assessment, which indicated that the key issues for

Page 410

Planning Committee (North)
7 September 2021

5

consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of development;
design and appearance; amenity impacts; highways impacts; and ecology.
Members considered the proposal in the context of the extant prior approval
permission under DC/20/2452 and concluded that the proposal was acceptable.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/21/1274 be granted subject to the conditions
as reported.
PCN/36 DC/21/0761 - BIRCHENBRIDGE HOUSE, BRIGHTON ROAD, MANNINGS
HEATH
The Head of Development & Building Control reported that this application
sought permission for the demolition of a pool house and storage building and
the erection of a single dwelling and detached garage. The proposal included a
new independent access and garage for Birchenbridge House. The conversion
of the outbuildings to a dwelling had been approved at appeal under
DC/19/0455.
The application site was located was outside the built-up area boundary on the
A281 between Horsham and Mannings Heath. The garden to the west and
north, where the proposed dwelling would be sited, was relatively secluded.
The Parish Council objected to the application. No further representations to
the public consultation had been received.
Members noted the consultation responses set out in the report and considered
the officer’s planning assessment, which indicated that the key issues for
consideration in determining the proposal were: the principle of development;
character and design and its impact on heritage; amenity impacts; accessibility
and highways; and ecology considerations.
Members considered the proposal in the context of the extant permission
DC/19/0455 and concluded that the proposal was acceptable.
RESOLVED
That planning application DC/21/0761 be granted subject to the conditions
as reported.

The meeting closed at 6.56 pm having commenced at 5.30 pm

Page5 11

Planning Committee (North)
7 September 2021

CHAIRMAN

Page 612

Agenda Item 5
Planning Committee (NORTH)
Date: 2nd November 2021
Report on Appeals: 25th August – 20th October 2021
1.

Appeals Lodged

Horsham District Council have received notice from the Planning Inspectorate that the following
appeals have been lodged:
Date
Officer
Committee
Lodged
Recommendation Resolution
09/09/2021 Application
N/A
Refused

Ref No.

Site

DC/21/1202

121 Farhalls Crescent
Horsham
West Sussex
RH12 4BU

DC/20/2564

Woodfords
Shipley Road
Southwater
Horsham
West Sussex
RH13 9BQ

27/09/2021 Application
Refused

N/A

DC/20/1488

Mobile Home
Valewood Farmhouse
Valewood Lane
Barns Green
Horsham
West Sussex
RH13 0QJ

04/10/2021 Application
Refused

N/A

DC/21/1418

1 Parkfield
Horsham
West Sussex
RH12 2BG

12/10/2021 Prior Approval
Required and
REFUSED

N/A

Page 13

2.

Appeals started

Consideration of the following appeals has started during the period:
Ref No.

Site

DC/20/2463 Lower Batchelors
Emms Lane
Barns Green
Horsham
West Sussex
RH13 0QH

Appeal
Procedure
Written
Representation

Officer
Committee
Recommendation Resolution
31/08/2021 Application
N/A
Refused
Start Date

DC/20/2533 Birchwood Cottages
Shaws Lane
Southwater
RH13 9BX

Written
Representation

02/09/2021 Application
Refused

N/A

DC/20/2467 9 Hares Hill Close
Broadbridge Heath
Horsham
West Sussex
RH12 3XX

Written
Representation

08/09/2021 Application
Refused

N/A

DC/19/1650 Stonehouse Farm
Handcross Road
Plummers Plain
Horsham
West Sussex
RH13 6NZ

Written
Representation

15/09/2021 Application
Refused

N/A

DC/20/0579 Land at Church
Road
Mannings Heath
RH136JE

Written
Representation

24/09/2021 Application
Refused

N/A

DC/19/1723 Land at Lyons Farm
Lyons Road
Slinfold
West Sussex
RH12 3LN

Informal
Hearing

01/10/2021 Application
Refused

Application
Refused

DC/21/0603 Mannings Heath Golf
Club
Hammerpond Road
Mannings Heath
Horsham
West Sussex
RH13 6PG

Written
Representation

14/10/2021 Application
Refused

N/A

Page 14

3.

Appeal Decisions

HDC have received notice from the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government that
the following appeals have been determined:
Appeal
Decision
Procedure
Written
Appeal
Representation Dismissed

Officer
Recommendation
Application
Permitted

Committee
Resolution
Application
Refused

Kings Mill
School Lane
Shipley
Horsham
West Sussex
RH13 8PL

Written
Appeal
Representation Dismissed

Application
Permitted

Application
Refused

DC/20/2389

Best Practice IFA
Group Ltd
Sussex House
North Street
Horsham
West Sussex

Written
Appeal
Representation Dismissed

Application
Refused

N/A

DC/20/2357

Sussex House
North Street
Horsham
West Sussex
RH12 1RQ

Written
Appeal
Representation Dismissed

Prior Approval
Required and
REFUSED

N/A

DC/20/1696

Sussex House
North Street
Horsham
West Sussex

Written
Appeal
Representation Dismissed

Prior Approval
Required and
REFUSED

N/A

DC/20/1686

Sussex House
North Street
Horsham
West Sussex

Written
Appeal
Representation Dismissed

Application
Refused

N/A

Ref No.

Site

DC/20/0322

Kings Mill
School Lane
Shipley
Horsham
West Sussex
RH13 8PL

DC/20/0321

Page 15

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

2nd November 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Variation of conditions 1 and 25 of previously approved application
DC/19/0123 (Erection of two employment buildings for use classes B1(c)
and B8 with associated access, car parking and landscaping) to allow for
amendments to the proposed scheme in relation to boundary treatments
and changes to the permitted hours of operation.

SITE:

Plot C1 Oakhurst Business Park Wilberforce Way Southwater West
Sussex

WARD:

Southwater North

APPLICATION:

DC/21/1607

APPLICANT:

Name: c/o Agent Address:

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations within the
consultation period raising material planning
considerations that are inconsistent with the
recommendation of the Head of Development
and Building Control.
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

This S.73 application is pursuant to DC/19/0123 (Erection of two employment buildings for
use classes B1(c) and B8 with associated access, car parking and landscaping) and seeks
the variation of condition 25 to allow changes to the permitted hours of operation. Condition
25 currently reads
Regulatory Condition: The premises hereby permitted shall not be open for trade or
business (including the receipt and/or dispatch of deliveries, and/or the operation of
vehicles, plant/machinery) except between the hours of 07:00 to 18:00 Mondays to Fridays;
07:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays; nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Contact Officer: Amanda Wilkes

Page 17

Tel: 01403 215521

1.3

The current application now seeks the variation as follows:
‘The premises hereby permitted shall not be open for trade of business (including receipt or
dispatch of deliveries and /or the operation of vehicles, plant / machinery) except between
the hours of 07:00 to 20:00 Mondays to Fridays 07:00 to 18:00 on Saturdays; nor at any
time on Sundays Bank or Public Holidays:

1.4

The application also seeks the variation of condition 1 to replace the approved boundary
treatment plan with amended plan 2265 P403J which provide for a 2.4m acoustic fence
along the western boundary adjacent to the service road between units 1 and 2.

1.5

The application is supported by a Marketing Report and by a Noise Impact Assessment.
No amendments are sought to any other conditions imposed in respect of DC/19/0123.

1.6

The application is a resubmission of DC/21/0087 which originally sought a variation to
Condition 25 to permit the following:




1.7

Any 24 hour operations to be restricted to internal only, 7 days a week
No manufacturing or industrial processes to take place within the buildings except
between 07:00hrs– 20.00hrs Monday – Friday, 07:00 – 18:00hrs Saturdays, and not
at all on Sundays, Bank Holidays or Public Holidays
No dispatch or receipt of deliveries to take place from the site except between
07:00hrs– 20.00hrs Monday – Friday, 07:00 – 18:00hrs Saturdays, and not at all on
Sundays, Bank Holidays or Public Holidays

DC/21/0087 was subsequently refused by the Planning Committee (North) on the 12th June
2021 for the following reason:
‘The proposed alteration to the hours of operation would result in significant harm and a
negative impact on the amenities of neighbouring occupiers by way of noise and
disturbance that would not be outweighed by the benefits, contrary to Policy 33 of the
HDPF’.

1.8

The current application (DC/21/1607) and the refused application (DC/21/0087) differ in
that the unrestricted internal 24 hour operations have now been removed from the current
proposals and the acoustic fence has been raised from 2m in height as previously sought
to 2.4m to provide additional protection to the private amenities of residential dwellings on
Martindales.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.9

The site is located in Oakhurst Business Park which is an established business facility in
Southwater and is within the defined Built-Up Area Boundary of the village. The site is also
located within a designated Key Employment Area as described in Policy 9 of the HDPF.
The site is located approximately 4km to the south of Horsham, and is classified as a Small
Town/Larger Village in Policy 3 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF) which
means it is a ‘settlement with a good range of services and facilities, strong community
networks and local employment provision’. The existing business park is a well-established
site comprising several large business units, including the RSPCA headquarters.

1.10

The site is bounded to the north and east by the access road into the Business Park
(Blakes Farm Road) and beyond this the A24. To the south are existing units within the
Oakhurst Business Park; and to the west is a residential estate (Martindales) and an area
of woodland including a pond.

Page 18

1.11

The site has an extant permission for the erection of two employment buildings for use
class B1 (c) and B8 (DC/19/0123) but is currently undeveloped and is overgrown with
shrubs and trees. Public Right of Way (1669) runs from the Worthing Road, through the
centre of the site and across Blakes Farm Road.

1.12

The existing landscaping and vegetation forms a landscaping buffer zone which aligns itself
along the north western boundary of the application site on Oakhurst Business Park
adjacent to the rear gardens of numbers 12-16 Martindales and the rear garden area of
numbers 3-11 Martindales. Since its creation, the vegetation has matured, and provides
visual screening between the Business Park and the nearby properties. The buffer zone in
this location currently varies in width between 17m and 19m between the proposed
commercial unit (Unit 2) and the rear garden boundaries.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 4 - Strategic Policy: Settlement Expansion
Policy 7 - Strategic Policy: Economic Growth
Policy 9 - Employment Development
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 26 - Strategic Policy: Countryside Protection
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 38 - Strategic Policy: Flooding
Policy 39 - Strategic Policy: Infrastructure Provision
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
West Sussex Joint Minerals Local Plan (2018)
Policy M9 - Safeguarding Minerals
Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Charging Schedule (2017)
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
The Southwater Neighbourhood Plan is relevant to the appeal. Following the Referendum
on the 6 May 2020 the plan was approved and now forms part of the development plan for
the district. The relevant policies include the following:

Page 19

Draft Policy SNP 1 Core Principles
Draft Policy SNP 4 Keeping our Roads Moving
Draft Policy SNP 15 Driving in the 21 Century
Draft Policy SNP 16 Design
Draft Policy SNP 17 Site levels
Draft Policy SNP 18 A Treed Landscape
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
DC/19/0123

DISC/20/0051

DISC/20/0252

DC/21/0087

Erection of two employment buildings for use classes
B1(c) and B8 with associated access, car parking
and landscaping.
Approval of details reserved by conditions, 3 Levels,
4 CEMP, 5 Drainage Strategy, 9 Biodiversity
enhancement layout, 19 LEMP, 21 Cycle storage,
and 23 Refuse and Recycling to approved application
DC/19/0123
Approval of details reserved by conditions 7 and 8 to
approved application DC/19/0123

Application Permitted on
11.02.2020

Variation of Condition 1 of previously approved
application DC/19/0123 (Erection of two employment
buildings for use classes B1(c) and B8 with
associated access, car parking and landscaping)
Relating to the approved boundary treatments plan,
and variation of condition 25 (Hours of opening) to
enable increased hours of operation at the site.

Application Refused on
15.06.2021

Application Permitted on
15.06.2020

Application Permitted on
26.10.2020

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers
have had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the
public file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS
HDC Environmental Health: No Objection
HDC Landscape Architect: Comment
It is not clear whether the noise assessment report has given its results assuming an
acoustic fence is already in place or not. As stated, the noise assessment originally was
based upon units for B2 use and not for B1(c)/B8 that are normally significantly quieter. As
per biodiversity enhancements approved under DISC/20/0051, a species-rich hedgerow is
to provide connectivity across the site and retained woodland to the west, where the
acoustic fence is now intended. Where a soft treatment was previously proposed, there
appears little space available for the planting to now be implemented, further urbanizing
this location both at the access and as you pass through the development on the PRoW.
It is not clear what further clearance of existing woodland is needed and clarification is
requested.

Page 20

HDC Economic Development: Comment
Economic Development supports the changes to the restriction on operating hours and has
no comments on the amendment to condition 1. We view the current restriction as a barrier
to attracting inward investment at this site and our previous comments on DC/21/0087
remain valid in relation this application.
Previous comments DC/21/0087
Economic Development supports the removal of the restriction on operating hours and has
no comments on the amendment to condition 1.
Removing the restriction on operating hours for the site would facilitate flexibility for the
businesses looking to move into the units. The applicant and marketing agent indicate that
there has been substantial interest in the facilities, with two businesses quoted as the
potential purchaser occupiers. However, the restriction risks businesses losing interest in
the site with parties already having walked away based on the lack of flexibility.
In order to attract inward investment, we need to meet the needs of businesses and
investors to showcase Horsham’s potential as an economic location to invest in. In terms of
this proposal, the potential occupiers are indicated as being located outside the District and
therefore this is an inward investment opportunity which would contribute towards local
economic growth. Nevertheless, the restriction on opening hours presents a barrier to this
opportunity materialising; the marketing agent has highlighted that the potential occupiers
would not proceed without 24/7 access. As outlined under Priority 1 of our Economic
Strategy, inward investment plays a vital role in addressing the challenges we face with
regards to the number of residents having to seek jobs outside of the District. The risk is
that we become a ‘dormitory district’ if we cannot provide enough local job opportunities
and miss out on opportunities for inward investment.
Furthermore, in order to meet Priority 2 of our Economic Strategy, we need to offer a range
of quality commercial floorspace to provide opportunities for businesses to grow and
remain here. Much of the District’s commercial floorspace is outdated and these units have
an advantage as they are set to provide high quality units. Yet this proposal also highlights
that parties interested in this type of accommodation, view the flexibility of 24/7 access as
one of their priorities. If we are to foster the ability of businesses to ‘grow and remain here’
we not only need to provide high quality commercial floorspace but also ensure that there
are as few barriers to business growth and inward investment as possible, by being able to
meet businesses’ priorities.
Overall, Economic Development supports the removal of the restriction on the opening
hours. We view the current restriction as a barrier to attracting inward investment at this
site.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES
WSCC Highways: No Objection
Ecology Consultant: No Objection
Southern Water: No Objection
WSCC Flood Risk Management: No Objection
WSCC Rights of Way: Objection
Archaeology: No Objection

Page 21

Natural England: Objection (standing advice)
It cannot be concluded that existing abstraction within the Sussex North Water Supply
Zone is not having an adverse effect on the integrity of the Arun Valley SAC/SPA/Ramsar
sites. Developments within Sussex North must therefore must not add to this impact and
one way of achieving this is to demonstrate water neutrality. The definition of water
neutrality is the use of water in the supply area before the development is the same or
lower after the development is in place.
To achieve this Natural England is working in partnership with all the relevant authorities to
secure water neutrality collectively through a water neutrality strategy. Whilst the strategy
is evolving, Natural England advises that decisions on planning applications should await
its completion. However, if there are applications which a planning authority deems critical
to proceed in the absence of the strategy, then Natural England advises that any
application needs to demonstrate water neutrality.
Southwater Parish Council: Object




There is no valid reason for extending the hours of operation to that originally
sought which reflected the proximity of neighbouring residential dwellings.
The change in hours of operation is based on the applicants not finding tenants
during an exceptional period of disturbance to the economy and has not
demonstrated that the units cannot be let indefinitely.
The Council Objects on the basis of the additional noise pollution from the extended
hours and the impact it would have on the neighbouring residential properties.

PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
There are a total of 17 neighbour letters received - 17 Objections (including 2 from the
same household)
Objections ae based on the following
-

Highway traffic and safety
Concerns regarding HGV impacts and on street parking
Visual amenity and impact on street scene
Erection of Fence / ineffective fence (gap) / boundary treatment
Impacts on countryside / semi rural area and natural habitat and ecology
Vacant units in vicinity, new units not required
Proximity to residential dwellings in Martindales
Overdevelopment
Blocked light
Impact on the Public Right Of Way
Health and Safety issues
Health concerns arising from noise and lack of sleep, stress levels, shift work
24/7 unloading and unloading
Noise and Light pollution

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

Page 22

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.1

The National Planning Policy Framework 2018 and relevant Planning Practice Guidance
(updated) states within the Flexible Options for Planning Permissions (March 2014), that an
application can be made under section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 to
vary or remove conditions associated with a planning permission.

6.2

The main issues arising from this application under section 73 of the Town and Country
Planning Act is the effect of removing or varying condition 25 on the private amenity of
nearby occupiers and the visual impact of the proposed acoustic fence.
Background

6.3

Planning permission was granted under DC/19/0123 on the 11 February 2020 for the
erection of two employment buildings for use Classes B1(c) and B8 with associated
access, car parking and landscaping. Condition 25 of that permission restricted hours of
operation at the site in the interest of protecting the amenities of neighbouring residents:
Regulatory Condition: The premises hereby permitted shall not be open for trade or
business (including the receipt and/or dispatch of deliveries, and/or the operation of
vehicles, plant/machinery) except between the hours of 07:00 to 18:00 Mondays to
Fridays; 07:00 to 13:00 on Saturdays; nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or Public
Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

6.4

The application seeks to relax this condition to allow an extra 2 hours of working in the
evening Mondays to Fridays, and an extra 5 hours on Saturday afternoon. The revised
condition would read as follows:
The premises hereby permitted shall not be open for trade of business (including receipt
or dispatch of deliveries and /or the operation of vehicles, plant / machinery) except
between the hours of 07:00 to 20:00 Mondays to Fridays 07:00 to 18:00 on Saturdays;
nor at any time on Sundays Bank or Public Holidays:
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

6.5

As advised in paragraph 1.8 above, the current application (DC/21/1607) and the refused
application (DC/21/0087) differ only in that the unrestricted internal 24 hour operations
have now been removed from the proposals currently being considered.

6.6

It should be noted that a similar application for extension of opening hours until 9pm
weekdays and 6pm Saturdays at Units 22-29 in the southern corner of the same Oakhurst
Business Park was refused by the Planning (North Committee) at the committee meeting
on the 7th September 2021, as follows:
The proposed alteration to the hours of operation condition would result in significant
harm to the amenities of neighbouring occupiers by way of noise and disturbance that
would not outweigh the benefits, contrary to policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015)

Page 23

6.7

The refusal of the above application, whilst a material consideration, is not a reason in itself
to recommend refusal of this current application which should be considered and
determined on its individual merits. It should be noted that the hours of operation as
currently sought are less than those previously considered in respect of both applications,
whilst the refusal at Units 22-29 was in a different part of the Business Park with a differing
arrangement with nearby residential uses.
Principle of Development

6.8

The principle of the development in respect of the two commercial buildings for B1(c) and
B8 uses has already been established by virtue of the extant planning permission granted
under DC/19/0123. The principle of the development for the erection of the two
commercial buildings, as previously approved, is not therefore considered as part of this
application.

6.9

The Southwater Neighbourhood Development Plan (2019-2031) has passed through
referendum and now forms part of the development plan for the district. There are no
policies within the Neighbourhood Plan that affect the principle of development on this site
whilst the HDPF remains unchanged since the initial application determination.
Water Neutrality

6.10

Since the determination of the previous application a material consideration that must now
be considered are matters relating to water neutrality. Under the Conservation of Habitats
and Species Regulations 2017 (s.63), as competent authority, it is this Council’s duty to
consider the impact of development on protected species and habitats. These Regulations
and the Natural England Position Statement of 23 September 2021 summarised in the
Consultation responses above, are material considerations that carry great weight.

6.11

In this instance there is no evidence that water consumption will evidentially increase from
the extra working hours being proposed. This is because water neutrality must be
considered against the fallback position of the existing full planning permission DC/19/0123
for the same units on this site that can be lawfully implemented. In this context, any
increase in water consumption that may arise from the extended hours of operation is likely
to be minimal and not of a level that would result in a significant impact on water
abstraction in the Arun Valley, either individually or in combination with other plans or
projects. This application has therefore been screened pursuant to s.63 of the
Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017 as not requiring an Appropriate
Assessment. To reduce the use of water on site, a condition is recommended requiring
details of water efficiency measures to be submitted for approval by the Local Planning
Authority. This will provide a betterment for water usage for this development.
Need for Variation of Hours of Operation

6.12

The supporting Planning Statement and Marketing Report (as previously submitted with
DC/21/0087 by SHW January 2021) and submitted with this application advises that there
has been strong interest in the buildings from potential occupiers with 34 logged active
enquire at the time the application was made and 4 parties with a serious interest wishing
to enter into discussions. It is also advised that there has been an average of 100
individual hits for the property per months and also 5 to 20 brochure downloads per month
since the marketing agency was engaged at the beginning of 2019. The marketing report
confirms that the type of occupiers have ranged from storage and distribution and last mile
logistics and companies seeking units for light manufacturing / assembly.

6.13

Recent information submitted with the current application states that ‘there are two
potential occupiers that have interest in the units provided the extended operational hours

Page 24

are approved’. It is further advised that ‘Advise from the Marketing Agent remains that
unless extended operational hours can be obtained the units will sit vacant for a
considerable amount of time with current restrictions.’
6.14

The applicants have submitted a revised Noise Impact Assessment (by Hoare Lea, July
2021) to support their case. The noise Impact Assessment considers noise break out
sound levels from the units, the impact from HGV movements and the impact from HGV
reversing alarms.

6.15

Calculations within the Noise Impact Assessment for break out sounds for units 1 and 2
have been assessed and it is advised that the calculated levels are particularly low and
significantly below both the existing daytime and night time ambient noise levels. It is
advised that the calculated sound levels for units 1 and 2 at the dwellings to the north
therefore fall within a BS4142 rating of ‘low impact’ at all times and that the levels are
particularly low and are significantly below the existing daytime ambient noise levels.

6.16

Calculations within the Noise Impact Assessment in respect of HGV movements for each
unit, taking into account distance attenuation and the barrier attenuation of the 2.4 acoustic
fence, demonstrate that the cumulative noise experienced at the nearest dwelling from
HGV movements within the service yards would result in BS4142 rating of ‘low impact’ at
all times during the proposed operational hours. This is a result of the distance from the
service yard to the dwellings, and also as a result of the screening provided by the
buildings and also the acoustic fence.

6.17

Calculations within the Noise Impact Assessment in respect of noise levels for HGV
reversing alarms for each unit, taking into account distance attenuation and barrier
attenuation, have also been calculated for units 1 and 2 respectively. It is advised that the
cumulative noise experienced at the nearest residential dwelling from the reversing alarms
within the service areas would result in a BS4142 rating of ‘low impact’ at all times during
the proposed operational hours. Information submitted by the applicants therefore states
that HGV reversing alarms will not be detrimental to the residential amenity of neighbouring
properties.

6.18

From the information provided within the Noise Impact Assessment, it is advised that the
development is very unlikely to give rise to noise disturbance as a result of the proposed
amendments to the operational hours sought under Condition 25, as the noise levels at the
adjacent noise sensitive properties on Martindales achieve a rating of low impact at all
times, and the proposed acoustic fence along with the orientation of the service yards away
from residential properties would help protect the amenities of these properties.

6.19

The Council’s Economic Development Department have been consulted and have advised
as before that removing the restriction on operating hours for the site would facilitate
flexibility for the businesses looking to move into the units, noting that in order to attract
inward investment, the Council needs to meet the needs of businesses and investors to
showcase Horsham’s potential as an economic location to invest in. They advise that in
terms of this proposal, the potential occupiers are indicated as being located outside the
District and therefore this is an inward investment opportunity which would contribute
towards local economic growth. The restriction on opening hours presents a barrier to this
opportunity materialising, with the applicant’s marketing agent highlighting that the potential
occupiers would not proceed without 24/7 access.

6.20

Chapter 2 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) seeks to achieve sustainable
economic growth by helping to build a strong, responsive and competitive economy by
ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right places and at the right
time to support growth, innovation and improved productivity; and by identifying and
coordinating the provision of infrastructure. Furthermore, Paragraph 80 of the NPPF states
that Planning Policies and Decisions should help to create conditions in which businesses

Page 25

can invest, expand and adapt. Significant weight should be placed on the need to support
economic growth and productivity.
6.21

In this context the benefit of relaxing condition 25 in order to better attract future occupiers
and economic opportunities for the district is a material consideration that weighs in favour
of the applicant’s proposals.

Amenity Impacts
6.22

Policies 32 and 33 of the HDPF seek to ensure an attractive, functional, accessible, safe
and adaptable environment avoiding unacceptable harm to the amenity of occupiers/users
of nearby property and land through overlooking or noise.

6.23

The separation distance between the north western boundary of the application site and
the rear elevations of the residential properties at 12 – 16 Martindales is between
approximately 22m and 25m (17m -19m to the back of their gardens). A narrow landscape
buffer with mature trees extends across the rear of these houses which is to be retained.

6.24

The close relationship of the site with these properties at 12-16 Martindales is such that
they would be easily exposed to noise disturbance from operations at the site. This was the
key consideration in the imposition of Condition 25 in its current form. The numerous
objections to the application proposals submitted by nearby residents are noted in this
respect and attest to the sensitivity of the site.

6.25

To support their case for the relaxation of Condition 25 to allow extended operational hours
as sought, the applicants have submitted a revised Noise Impact Assessment. The
updated Noise Impact Assessment (2021) has identified that the original Noise Impact
Assessment (2018) considered under DC/19/0123 was based on the proposed units being
occupied as B2 use, not the B1(c) /B8 uses applied for and was modelled on a higher
number of HGV movements than predicted within the Transport Statement. The Applicants
state that in practice B1(c) and B8 uses are normally significantly quieter than the B2 use
modelled in the original assessment. The Applicants have further advised that in order to
consider the worst case scenario it has been assumed for the purposes of the assessment
that both units will be used for B8 purposes as by definition, noting that B1(c) operations
should be able to be carried out within residential areas without detriment to the amenity.

6.26

The conclusions within the updated Noise Impact Assessment (2021) state that ‘Noise
break-out from the units themselves will be significantly (>15dB) lower that those presented
in the submitted noise report. A reassessment of all these activities in accordance with BS
4142 indicates that the noise impact of the proposed development would readily achieve a
condition of ‘low impact’ at the nearest residential properties. Assessment of activity noise
levels for the proposed development indicates that daytime and night time BS 8233 internal
criteria would readily be achieved at the nearest dwellings when windows are open. It is
noted that the predicted noise levels at the dwellings from the proposed development are
significantly below the existing ambient and background noise climate and, consequently,
are unlikely to be noticeable. On this basis, it is considered that the development is very
unlikely to give rise to noise disturbance, based upon the relaxed hours as sought with no
24 /hour operations as previously proposed.

6.27

The Council’s Environmental Health officers have reviewed the applicant’s submission and
have no objection to the hours proposed.

6.28

The applicants have confirmed that the previous party’s interested in occupying the units
are still as previously advised and as such the information relating to the working patterns
of the prospective tenants who would be acquiring the freehold of each unit is relevant.
The applicants are seeking to ensure they have sufficient flexibility in the occupation of

Page 26

their respective units to ensure their longevity within Horsham. The prospective occupiers
for Unit 1 would use the site for storage, packaging and distribution of products
manufactured off-site, working normally 8.30am – 5pm including Saturday but needing
flexibility for instances where meetings with visitors or potential clients overrun, or an
increase in orders requires later working hours to meet the demand. The prospective
occupiers for Unit 2 are mainly clerical office based, with the warehousing/storage of
product and some light assembly taking place within the unit using hand tools only.
Operating hours within this unit would be between 8am – 6pm, again, with some aspects
running later into the evening should an increase in orders that require packing, or if
meetings overrun.
6.29

Whilst these prospective occupiers would likely have a limited impact beyond the hours
already permitted, it is not possible to restrict occupation to these un-named businesses
only therefore regard must still be had to the potential for alternative businesses to occupy
the units in a more intensive manner. Following careful consideration officers recommend
the following amendments to condition 25 to enable more flexible working practices whilst
suitably protecting the nearby residents of Martindales from undue noise disturbances:
• No manufacturing or industrial processes shall take place within the buildings except
between 07:00hrs– 20.00hrs Monday – Friday, 07:00 – 18:00hrs Saturdays, and not at
all on Sundays, Bank Holidays or Public Holidays
• No dispatch or receipt of deliveries shall take place from the site except between
07:00hrs– 20.00hrs Monday – Friday, 07:00 – 18:00hrs Saturdays, and not at all on
Sundays, Bank Holidays or Public Holidays

6.30

In reaching this recommendation, regard should be had to a number of complimentary
conditions already secured within the existing planning permission that would continue to
take effect, namely:
• Condition 11 sought to limit the use of building services plant unless and until full
details of plant to be installed as well as noise mitigation measures to mitigate against
any adverse impacts on neighbouring amenity have been agreed and implemented;
• Condition 12 required a separate noise management plan to include hours of operation
and management responsibilities during all operating hours to be agreed, including
details requiring measures to control noise from all activities, including equipment
plant, or building services, and details minimising noise from vehicles deliveries and
servicing, all to be approved by the local planning authority prior to occupation. This
condition also states that the noise management plan shall be regularly reviewed to
ensure that it takes account of current operational practices on site, thereby allowing
the opportunity for it to be reviewed and amended to address any concerns raised and
to ensure that the amended noise management plan is implemented and operated in
accordance with the approved details;
• Condition 13 required a scheme of sound insulation works to reduce the escape of
noise from all units in accordance with the Noise Impact Assessment as previously
submitted with that application;
• Condition 14 required a report / letter from a competent person confirming that the
building has been constructed in accordance with recommendation within the Noise
Impact Assessment dated 28 September 2018;
• Condition 15 required that no other plant shall be installed or operated without prior
written approval of the Local Planning Authority by way of a formal application and
requires an acoustic assessment and mitigation as part of any application to safeguard
the amenities of nearby residents at 1 - 16 Martindales;
• Condition 16 required a post installation noise assessment to be carried out to confirm
compliance with noise criteria prior to the use or operation of any plant, machinery or
equipment or building services plant.

Page 27

6.31

The applicants have also included a 2.4m acoustic barrier (previously 2m) along the
western boundary adjacent to the service road between units 1 and 2 to further reduce
noise impact upon the residential properties to the rear. This acoustic fence is not
considered to result in any adverse visual harm to amenities as it is within the confines of
the business park and not readily visible to occupiers of private dwellings and would further
assist in minimising noise break-out.

6.32

On the basis of the above, and having careful regard to the proximity of the site to the
adjacent properties at Martindales, the proposed amendments to conditions 1 and 25 as
now revised are considered to retain an acceptable impact on neighbouring amenity in
accordance with Policies 32 and 33 of the HDPF.
Other

6.33

It is noted that WSCC PROW have raised concerns regarding the installation of the 2m
high acoustic barrier in relation to the vehicles crossing the public right of way and the
visibility splay that is provided by the palisade fence. As pedestrians, walkers and runners,
including children and their dogs will be using the public footpath it is advised that there is
uncertainty that the proposal allows adequate visibility when vehicles are emerging to cross
the public right of way. Although it is accepted that there will be partial visibility provided by
a palisade fence further details of this would be required. This issue can be addressed
through additional information to be submitted as part of the requirements of condition 18
which includes details of boundary treatments. It is noted that no objections were raised in
regards to this matter under the previously approved application.
Conclusions

6.34

Permission has already been granted for the development of two commercial buildings on
the application site by virtue of the consent granted under DC/19/0123 and as such the
principle of development has already been agreed and is not the subject of consideration in
this application. This application seeks only to amend condition 1 (plans) and Condition 25
(operational hours).

6.35

The private amenity concerns of local residents are recognised given the relationship and
separation distance between the application site and the commercial unit. The applicants
have worked to address previous concerns raised by removing the 24/7 internal operational
hours previously refused under DC/21/0087. In this respect, it is considered that existing
suite of conditions and the revised condition would allow appropriate control over
operations within the buildings and associated yards whilst allowing the flexible use of the
buildings as sought by the applicants. Furthermore, within the context of the Council’s
Economic Development Officer’s comments as set out above, the proposed amendments
would accord with this advice, and would allow the units to operate some flexibility in order
to attract occupiers and create opportunities for inward investment and local economic
growth within the District, in accordance with the Councils Employment and Economic
Growth strategy and in accordance with Policy 9 of the HDPF and the overarching
principles of Paragraph 80 of the National Planning Policy Framework.

6.36

Overall, having careful regard for the site and its relationship with the nearby dwellings and
residential occupiers adjacent to the site, it is recommended that the existing conditions as
imposed under DC/19/0123 (specifically Conditions 11, 12, 13, 14, 15 and 16 set out within
paragraph 6.29 above), together with the revised condition 25 referred to above, along with
the amendments to the boundary treatments plan relating to the proposed acoustic fence,
provide sufficient justification to allow the proposed amendments to condition 25 as sought
whilst respecting private amenities of the neighbouring residential occupiers.

Page 28

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To approve planning permission subject to the following conditions.

Conditions:
1

Plans

2

Regulatory (Time) Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun before
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

3

Regulatory: The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details of
finished floor levels and external ground levels of the development in relation to nearby
datum points adjoining the application site as shown on plan No 62479 101 Rev 4
(Drainage Layout) approved under DISC/20/0051, unless alternative details have been
submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to
commencement of development.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to control the development in detail in the interests
of amenity and visual impact and in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

4

Regulatory: The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Construction
Management Plan (CEMP) (received 05/05/20) and CEMP Biodiversity (Brindle & Green
Ltd Report received 26 May 2020) as approved under DISC/20/0051, unless an alternative
CEMP has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority
prior to the commencement of development. The approved Plan shall be implemented and
adhered to throughout the entire construction period.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental in order to consider the potential impacts on the
amenity of nearby occupiers and highway safety during construction and in accordance
with Policies 33 and 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015) and to
conserve Protected and Priority species and allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the
UK habitats Regulations 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended, s40 of the
NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework.

5

Pre-Commencement Condition: The development shall be carried out in accordance with
the approved drainage strategy (Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy dated 7 April
2020 (ref: 62479 Rev B) as approved under DISC/20/0051 unless alternative details have
been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to
commencement of development.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure that the development is properly drained
and to comply with Policy 38 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

6

Pre-Commencement Condition: No development shall commence pursuant to the
permission granted, ground clearance, or bringing equipment, machinery or materials onto
the site, until the following preliminaries have been completed in the sequence set out
below:
• All trees on the site shown for retention on approved drawing (un-numbered) within
the Arboricultural Impact Assessment (Brindle and Green dated 17 January 2019
report ref: BG18.200), as well as those off-site whose root protection areas ingress
into the site, shall be fully protected throughout all construction works by tree protective

Page 29

fencing affixed to the ground in full accordance with section 6 of BS 5837 'Trees in
Relation to Design, Demolition and Construction - Recommendations' (2012).
• Once installed, the fencing shall be maintained during the course of the development
works and until all machinery and surplus materials have been removed from the site.
• Areas so fenced off shall be treated as zones of prohibited access, and shall not be
used for the storage of materials, equipment or machinery in any circumstances. No
mixing of cement, concrete, or use of other materials or substances shall take place
within any tree protective zone, or close enough to such a zone that seepage or
displacement of those materials and substances could cause them to enter a zone.
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to ensure the successful and satisfactory protection
of important trees and hedgerows on the site in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).
7

Regulatory: The development shall be carried out in accordance with the Great Crested
Newt Mitigation Licence and the Licenced Method Statements for Great Crested Newts and
Hazel Dormice .The approved scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with
details submitted to and as approved by Natural England and as approved under
DISC/20/0252 unless alternative details have been submitted to, and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of development.
Reason: To conserve Protected and priority species and allow the LPA to discharge its
duties under the UK Habitats Regulation 2017, the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as
amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 and s17 Crime and Disorder Act 1998.

8

Regulatory: The development shall strictly accord with the schedule of materials as set out
and approved under DISC/20/0252 unless an alternative scheme has been submitted to
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority, prior to commencement of
development
Reason: As this matter is fundamental to enable the Local Planning Authority to control the
development in detail in the interests of amenity by endeavouring to achieve a building of
visual quality in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

9

Regulatory: The development herby permitted shall only be implemented in strict
accordance with approved Biodiversity Enhancement Layout (Brindle & Green July 2019
and Habitat Enhancement Plan (Feb 2020 as included in Appendix 2 of the Landscape and
Ecological Management Plan (Brindle & Green March 2020) approved under DISC/20/0051
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species and allow the LPA to discharge its
duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats & species) and Policy 31 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework.

10

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation or use of any part of the
development hereby permitted, the mitigation measures set out in Chapter 6 of the
approved Air Quality Assessment [Hoare Lea (For Tungsten Properties Ltd), Air Quality
Assessment Rev 01 dated 20 December 2018] shall have been implemented along with
the provision of 4 vehicle charging points, two per unit. These mitigation measures shall be
retained as such thereafter.
Reason: To mitigate the impact of the development on air quality within the District and to
sustain compliance with and contribute towards EU limit values or national objectives for
pollutants in accordance with Policies 24 & 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

Page 30

11

Pre-Occupation Condition: No building services plant shall be operated until full details,
including the location of the plant to be installed and any noise mitigation measures, have
been submitted to and been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. This plant
shall demonstrate accordance with the measures set out in Chapter 10 of the Noise Impact
Assessment [Hoare Lea, 28th September 2018, Rev 01] to mitigate any adverse impacts
on neighbouring amenity. These measures shall be fully installed prior to first operation of
the plant and shall be retained as such thereafter.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent residents in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

12

Pre-Occupation Condition: The use hereby permitted shall not commence until a noise
management plan has been submitted and approved in writing by the local planning
authority. This should include but not be limited to, hours of operation, management
responsibilities during all operating hours, measures to control noise from all activities and
operations at the site (including the operation of any equipment plant, or building services)
and minimising noise from vehicles, deliveries and servicing. The noise management plan
shall be regularly reviewed to ensure that it takes account of current operational practices
at the site. Where any activities or operations that give rise to concerns of impact to local
amenity are received by the operator or the Local Planning Authority the noise
management plan shall be reviewed. Any changes to the noise management plan
necessary to address these concerns shall implemented to the satisfaction of the Local
Planning Authority. The use hereby permitted shall thereafter be operated in accordance
with the approved details.
Reason: In order to ensure that the safe operation of the development and to protection of
the amenities of nearby residents, in accordance with Polices 33 and 40 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

13

Pre-Occupation Condition: A scheme of sound insulation works to reduce the escape of
noise from all units shall be drawn up. As a minimum the scheme shall achieve the targets
for sound reduction as set out in the Noise Impact Assessment prepared by Hoare Lea
dated 28 September 2018 and shall include assessment of the noise escape from all
building openings, flues and ducts. The scheme shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme as approved by the local planning
authority shall be fully installed before the development is occupied.
Reason: In order to ensure that the safe operation of the development and to protection of
the amenities of nearby residents, in accordance with Polices 33 and 40 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

14

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to occupation of any unit a letter report prepared by a
competent person shall be provided which confirms the unit has been constructed in
accordance with the recommendations of Noise Impact Assessment prepared by Hoare
Lea dated 28 September 2018. Any additional steps required to mitigate noise shall be
detailed and implemented, as necessary. The report shall be submitted to and approved in
writing by the local planning authority. The details as approved shall thereafter be
permanently retained.
Reason: In order to ensure that the safe operation of the development and to protection of
the amenities of nearby residents, in accordance with Polices 33 and 40 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

15

Pre-Occupation Condition: No plant shall be installed or operated without the prior written
approval of the Local Planning Authority by way of formal application. An acoustic
assessment and mitigation will be needed as part of any such application.

Page 31

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of [1-16 Martindale’s and in accordance with Policy 33
of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
16

Pre-Occupation Condition: The use hereby permitted, or the operation of any plant,
machinery, equipment or building services plant, shall not commence until a postinstallation noise assessment has been carried out to confirm compliance with the noise
criteria. The scheme shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and
attenuation measures, and they shall be permanently retained and maintained in working
order for the duration of the use and their operation.
Reason: In order to ensure that the safe operation of the development and to protection of
the amenities of nearby residents, in accordance with Polices 33 and 40 of the Horsham
District Planning Framework (2015).

17

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development shall be first occupied until such
time as the vehicular access and car parking spaces serving the development have been
constructed in accordance with the details shown on the drawing titled Proposed Site Plan
and numbered P400 rev H. The car parking spaces permitted shall thereafter be retained
as such for their designated use.
Reason: In the interests of road safety and in accordance with Policies 40 and 41 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

18

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of any part of the development
hereby permitted, full details of all hard and soft landscaping works shall have been
submitted to and approved, in writing, by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall
include plans and measures addressing the following:
• Details of all existing trees and planting to be retained
• Details of all proposed trees and planting, including schedules specifying species,
planting size, densities and plant numbers and tree pit details
• Details of all hard surfacing materials and finishes
• Details of all boundary treatments to include the recommendations set out in Chapter
10 of the Noise Impact Assessment [Hoare Lea, 28th September 2018, Rev 01]
• Details of all external lighting including their hours of operation and a lighting design
scheme for Biodiversity showing how and where external bat sensitive lighting will be
installed (with provision of appropriate lighting contour plans, lsolux drawings and an
appropriate technical specification).
• Details of the management of the landscaping within the site.
The approved landscaping scheme shall be fully implemented in accordance with the
approved details within the first planting season following the first occupation of any part of
the development. Unless otherwise agreed as part of the approved landscaping, no trees
or hedges on the site shall be wilfully damaged or uprooted, felled/removed, topped or
lopped without the previous written consent of the Local Planning Authority until 5 years
after completion of the development. Any proposed planting, which within a period of 5
years, dies, is removed, or becomes seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in
the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning
Authority gives written consent to any variation.
The approved external lighting shall be installed in accordance with the specifications and
locations set out in the scheme and maintained thereafter in accordance with the scheme.
No external lighting shall be installed without the prior consent from the local planning
authority.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations 2017,
the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority
habitats & species) and to protect neighbouring amenity in accordance with Policies 31 and
33 of the HDPF.

Page 32

19

Regulatory Condition: The development hereby permitted shall only be implemented in
strict accordance with the recommendations of the approved LEMP (Brindle & Green dated
February 2020) as submitted and approved under DISC/20/0051.
Reason: To allow the LPA to discharge its duties under the UK Habitats Regulations 2017,
the Wildlife & Countryside Act 1981 as amended and s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority
habitats & species) and Policy 31 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

20

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation of the unit, the necessary inbuilding physical infrastructure and external site-wide infrastructure to enable superfast
broadband speeds of 30 megabytes per second through full fibre broadband connection
shall be provided to the premises.
Reason: To ensure a sustainable development that meets the needs of future occupiers in
accordance with Policies 10 and 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

21

Pre Occupation Condition : No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until the cycle parking facilities serving it have been constructed and made
available for use in accordance with the details as approved under DISC/20/0051 and shall
thereafter be retained as such.
Reason: To ensure that there is adequate provision for the parking of cycles in accordance
with Policy 40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

22

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to the first occupation (or use) of any part of the
development hereby permitted, a Travel Plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing
by the Local Planning Authority. The Travel Plan once approved shall thereafter be
implemented as specified within the approved document. The Travel Plan shall be
completed in accordance with the latest guidance and good practice documentation as
published by the Department for Transport or as advised by the Highway Authority.
Reason: To encourage and promote sustainable transport and in accordance with Policy
40 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

23

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until the provision for the refuse and recycling has been made available for use in
accordance with the details approved under DISC/20/0051 and shall therefore be retained
as such.
Reason: To ensure the adequate provision of recycling facilities in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

24

Regulatory Condition: No works for the implementation of the development hereby
approved shall take place outside of 08:00 hours to 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays and
08:00 hours to 13:00 hours on Saturdays nor at any time on Sundays, Bank or public
Holidays.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of adjacent occupiers in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

25

Regulatory Condition: No manufacturing or industrial processes shall take place within
the buildings except between 07:00hrs – 20:00hrs Monday – Friday, 07:00 - 18:00hrs
Saturdays, and not at all on Sundays, Bank Holidays or Public Holidays;
No dispatch or receipt of deliveries shall take place from the site between 07:00hrs –
20:00hrs Monday – Fridays, 07:00 -18:00hrs Saturdays, and not at all on Sundays, Bank
Holidays or Public Holidays.

Page 33

Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).
26

Regulatory Condition: Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any order amending or
revoking and/or re-enacting that Order), the premises hereby permitted shall only be used
for uses falling with Classes B1(c) and B8, and for no other purposes (including those
falling within Class B2 as defined in the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order
1987, or in any provision equivalent to that Class in any statutory instrument revoking and
re-enacting that Order with or without modification) without express planning consent from
the Local Planning Authority first being obtained.
Reason: Changes of use as permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General
Permitted Development) Order or Use Classes Order 1987 are not considered appropriate
in this case due to the unknown and potentially harmful impacts on local amenity under
Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

27

Regulatory Condition: If, during development, contamination not previously identified is
found to be present at the site then no further development shall be carried out until a
remediation strategy has been submitted to and approved by the local planning authority
detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with. The remediation strategy
shall be implemented as approved.
Reason: To ensure that no unacceptable risks are caused to humans, controlled waters or
the wider environment during and following the development works and to ensure that any
pollution is dealt with in accordance with Policies 24 and 33 of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

28

Regulatory Condition: No activities other than loading or unloading shall be undertaken in
the open air and no externally located storage of any materials or waste is permitted at any
time.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policies
32 and 33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

29

Pre-Occupation Condition: No part of the development hereby permitted shall be
occupied until details of water efficiency measures have been submitted to for approval by
the Local Planning Authority. The subsequently approved water limiting measures shall
thereafter be retained.
Reason: To limit water use in order to improve the sustainability of the development in
accordance with Policy 37 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 34

06) DC/21/1607
Plot C1, Oakhurst Business Park, Southwater
Elling
ton H
ous e
13
P
LACE
WELCOME
1
Tiree

1

CO

Pond

5

LA
CE

31

23

27

MA
RT
I ND
AL

22

26

WA
RN

3t
17

ES

o1
1

12

The Rest

41

36

1

GA
TE
1

MP
T
9 ON P

Trollslund
62.5m
LB

¯

A24

Tenu
re Ho
us e
Wa
l nu
t
Cot Tr
t ag e e
e
Beech House

am

HA
M

Twynh

64.3m

3

Little

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

RO
AD

Rossbank

(um
)

16

Cherry Trees

Dr

WO
R

15

ain

Pond

20
19

16

FO
RC
EW
AY
ER

Oa

kh
u

rs t

Bu
sin

2

El Sub Sta

Yasume
KIN
GS
LA N
E

WI
LB

es
sP

ark

Pilgrims Rozel
Post

(um)
Path

5

)

ESS

4

8

4

(u
m

Pond

9
121

Pa
th

Path

TH
I NG

Sunny Side

1

Scale: 1:2,500
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

21/10/2021

Page 35MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 7
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

2nd November 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Retrospective application for the change of use of 67m2 land from public
open space to mixed use (Use Classes E(f) & F1(a)) and 559m2 of land
from Use Class E (formerly D1/D2) to public open space.

SITE:

Land at Easteds Barn Easteds Lane Southwater Horsham West Sussex
RH13 9DP

WARD:

Southwater North

APPLICATION:

DC/21/1539

APPLICANT:

Name: Southwater Parish Council Address: C/O Squires Planning The
Long Barn, Poplars Place Turners Hill Road Crawley Down RH10 4HH

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations within the
consultation period raising material planning
considerations that are inconsistent with the
recommendation of the Head of Development
and Building Control.
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

This application seeks retrospective planning permission for the change of use of 67m2
land from public open space to mixed use (Use Classes E(f) Day Nursery & F1(a)
Education) and 559m2 of land from Use Class E (formerly D1/D2) to public open space.

1.3

The 67m2 of land to be changed from public open space to Class E(f) and F1(a) is situated
to the south of the Easteds Barn building and is being used as part of the landscaped
gardens by the children who attend the nursery. The site is bordered by a 1.8m high close
boarded fence to the entire southern boundary.

1.4

The 559m2 of land to the east and north east of Easteds Barn with planning permission for
D1/D2 use (through DC/11/2502) currently appears on the ground as part of the open
greenspace and is used as such, but has permission to be used as part of the D1/D2 use
at Easteds Barn. This proposal would change the use of this part of the open space so that
it cannot be removed from the area of open space in the future and enclosed as use by

Contact Officer: Kate Turner

Page 37

Tel:

Easteds Barn. This will effectively result in an addition of 492m2 of public open space at
Nutham Lane Open Space although as the application is retrospective it will not appear any
different to the current situation.
1.5

A stretch of mature hedgerow was removed from the 67m2 site and enclosed by the close
boarded fence when the nursery moved onto the site. This application proposes low level
compensatory planting at Nutham Lane Open Space in the area in front of the fence and
path.

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE
1.6

The application site lies within the Built-Up-Area of Southwater adjacent to Nutham Lane
Open Space, a large open grassed area containing a children’s play area and public
greenspace. The open space is surrounded by a range of residential dwellings with many
having views across the space. Easteds Barn is identified in the Southwater
Neighbourhood Plan Policy SNP19 as a Parish Heritage Asset, a non-designated heritage
asset as defined by the NPPF.

1.7

Easteds Barn has a permitted D1/D2 use (DC/11/2502) and is currently being used as a
Children’s Day Nursery called ‘Little Barn Owls’ who lease the site from Southwater Parish
Council. This use now falls within use class E (f) Day Nursery.

1.8

The red line boundary of the site of this application consists of a strip of land bordering the
southern and eastern boundaries of the Easteds Barn site that extends up to Easteds Lane
in the west and as far as Nutham Lane to the east. It consists of public open space which is
made up of grass, some planting and some existing trees and land in Use Class E mostly
laid to grass.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 7 - Strategic Policy: Economic Growth
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 41 - Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Southwater Neighbourhood Plan
SNP5 Local Green Space (i) Nutham Lane Open Space
SNP19 Parish Heritage Assets

Page 38

PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
SQ/61/95

Application Permitted on
30.08.1995

DC/21/0510

Erection of community building and 23 space car
park
Site: Easteds Meadow Cedar Drive Southwater
Single storey extension to existing building and
variation of Condition 10 of SQ/61/95 (Use of building
for meeting room purposes only), to facilitate use of
overall premises for general D1 (Non residential
Institutions) and D2 (Assembly and Leisure)
purposes at Easteds Barn
Erection of an entrance porch and changes to
existing fenestration. Internal sub-division by the
installation of a first floor and staircase; internal
partitioning; relocation of kitchen and WC facilities.
Variation of condition 1 on previously approved
application DC/18/2212 (Erection of an entrance
porch and changes to existing fenestration. Internal
sub-division by the installation of a first floor and
staircase; internal partitioning; relocation of kitchen
and WC facilities) to allow for the addition of a
rooflight in the west facing roof slope.
Retrospective application for the change of use of
land from public open space to mixed use (Use
Classes E(F) & F1(A)).
Retention of external store

DC/21/0511

Retention of covered play area.

Under consideration

DC/11/2502

DC/18/2212

DC/19/1058

DC/21/0297

Application Permitted on
22.10.2013

Application Permitted on
12.12.2018

Application Permitted on
11.07.2019

Under consideration

Under consideration

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers
have had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the
public file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS
HDC Landscape Architect: No Objection
I have no concerns with the proposals from a landscape point of view. I would only point out
to bear in mind to clearly identify maintenance responsibilities for this additional area of open
space if you are minded to recommend the application for approval.
HDC Tree Officer: No Objection
I can advise that I have no concerns with the species section for the new proposed planting,
and I do not consider that this proposal will have a negative impact on the existing trees at
the site.
HDC Conservation Officer: No Objection
It is noted that Easteds Barn is identified as a Parish Heritage Asset within the Southwater
Neighbourhood Plan. Easteds Barn is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset as
defined in the NPPF. Paragraph 189 of the NPPF notes that heritage assets “are an
irreplaceable resource, and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their
significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of existing
and future generations.”
The effect of a proposal on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be
taken into account in determining applications. In weighing applications that directly or
indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required

Page 39

having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage
asset. Application DC/21/0297 relates to the change of use of land from open space to mixed
use. The area of land proposed to become part of the nursery is to the south of the Barn,
and has been enclosed by timber fencing. Whilst no objection would be raised to the change
of use a more sympathetic boundary treatment could have been proposed to soften the
transition between the open space and the heritage asset. It is understood that planting
would be undertaken to soften the appearance of the fence which would be supported.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES
WSCC Highways: No Objection
There are no proposed altered access arrangements or parking proposed. There is not
expected to be any highway safety or capacity concerns related to the change of use. The
Local Highway Authority does not consider that the proposal would have an unacceptable
impact on highway safety or result in ‘severe’ cumulative impacts on the operation of the
highway network, therefore is not contrary to the National Planning Policy Framework
(paragraph 109), and that there are no transport grounds to resist the proposal.
Ecology Consultant: No Objection
Initial Consultation Response 14.09.2021: No Objection
We note that the hedgerow that has been removed was planted in 1995 as part of a planning
application and was comprised of native and non-native species. The original planting was
species rich and originally included Common Hawthorn, Blackthorn, Spindle, Guelder Rose,
Wild Privet, Dogwood, Pussy Willow, Holly, Alder, Buddleia Empire Blue, Choisya Ternata
Sundance, Red-barked Dogwood and Mahonia Japonica Wintersun.
As this application is retrospective, impacts on breeding birds, reptiles, and Priority species
such as hedgehog and invertebrates, as a direct result of the removal cannot be assessed.
The Planting Plan (Decimus Designs, June 2021) demonstrates that the hedgerow will be
replaced with native species, to compensate for the loss of the previous hedgerow. The
Planting Plan (Decimus Designs, June 2021) also demonstrates that the Hazel’s to be
planted will be larger specimens and the native species planting will be whips. This will
enable the LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties including its
biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act 2006.
However, we also recommend that, to secure measurable net gains for biodiversity, as
outlined under Paragraph 170d of the National Planning Policy Framework 2021, reasonable
biodiversity enhancement measures will need to be provided. A Biodiversity Enhancement
Strategy for protected and Priority Species should be secured as a condition of any consent.
Given the scope of this application, we recommend this includes the provision of a bird box
and a bat box. We a recommend bird box and bat box could be erected on suitable trees.
These boxes should be fixed at heights above 2m and not in a south facing aspect.
Impacts will be minimised such that the proposal is acceptable subject to the conditions
below based onBS42020:2013. In terms of biodiversity net gain, the enhancements
proposed will contribute to this aim. Submission for approval and implementation of a
Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy within 3 months.
Ecology Re-consultation 30.09.21: No Objection
In addition to our comments on 14 September, we have reviewed the amended Planting Plan
Rev A (Decimus Designs, September 2021) recently submitted which includes a height
requirement for the native shrub mix, though this will not be required for the four multi stem
Hazels.
We are still satisfied that there is sufficient ecological information available for determination.

Page 40

The Planting Plan Rev A (Decimus Designs, September 2021) demonstrates that the
hedgerow will be replaced with native species, to compensate for the loss of the previous
hedgerow. The Planting Plan Rev A (Decimus Designs, September 2021) also demonstrates
that the Hazels to be planted will be rootballed specimens and the native species shrub
planting will be whips. This will be sufficient to re-establish the hedgerow habitat as soon as
possible and maintenance of the native shrubs to a height of 1.1m is not considered likely to
be a constraint to achieving its ecological function. This will enable the LPA to demonstrate
its compliance with its statutory duties including its biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act
2006.
Natural England: Objection
It cannot be concluded that existing abstraction within the Sussex North Water Supply Zone
is not having an adverse effect on the integrity of the Arun Valley SAC/SPA/Ramsar sites.
Developments within Sussex North must therefore must not add to this impact and one way
of achieving this is to demonstrate water neutrality. The definition of water neutrality is the
use of water in the supply area before the development is the same or lower after the
development is in place.
To achieve this Natural England is working in partnership with all the relevant authorities to
secure water neutrality collectively through a water neutrality strategy. Whilst the strategy is
evolving, Natural England advises that decisions on planning applications should await its
completion. However, if there are applications which a planning authority deems critical to
proceed in the absence of the strategy, then Natural England advises that any application
needs to demonstrate water neutrality.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
A total of 12 objections have been received from nine different households in Southwater.
These objections are summarised below:










Removal of thick and mature hedgerow
Object to compensatory planting placement due to visibility and safety concerns and
antisocial behaviour at screened points
Would require motion sensor lighting for safety
Play park should not be additionally shielded for safeguarding reasons- needs natural
surveillance
Presence of hazel dormice
Area is already part of the open space as shown in the Neighbourhood Plan
Current application for PROW along this route
The hedgerow should be replanted in the same location and the fence moved back
towards the building
Unrealistic the hedge will remain at 1.1m high, making path and park dangerous

In response to the addition of the 1.1 metre height restriction on the proposed shrub planting
and the ‘No Objection’ response from the Council’s Ecologists, the planning officer received
emails from two objectors raising further concerns around the potential impact on the
biodiversity mitigation of limiting the height.
4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

Page 41

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Principle of Development

6.1

Policy 43 of the HDPF relates to ‘Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation’. It states that
‘The provision of new or improved community facilities or services will be supported,
particularly where they meet the identified needs of local communities’.

6.2

Policy SNP5 of the Southwater Neighbourhood Plan relates to Local Green Space. The area
to the south of Easteds Barn is a designated Local Green Space named ‘Nutham Lane Open
Space’ and is designated as Local Green Space (i). The policy states that there will be a
presumption against all development on Local Green Space except in very special
circumstances.

6.3

The part of the site to become associated with Easteds Barn (67m2 to the south of the
building) falls outside of the Local Green Space designation as defined in the Neighbourhood
Plan and there is therefore no loss of Local Green Space through the change of use of this
part of the site. Some of the land proposed to formally become public open space through
this application is within the Local Green Space designated area. This application is therefore
considered to be compliant with the Southwater Neighbourhood Plan 2021.

6.4

Whilst part of the site is open to the public, and part of it used by the nursery, the whole site
is a community facility and this proposal is considered to lead to improvements to both parts.
The enclosed part of the site becoming use classes e(f) & f1(a) offers secure and safe
outdoor space for children to play and learn, essential for children’s health and well-being,
whilst the remainder provides the community with assurance that the land previously allowed
change of use to D1/D2 will remain public open space and cannot be amalgamated into
Easteds Barn as it could be currently. This is particularly the case for the area to the east of
the enclosed site between Easteds Barn and the rear of 1 Nutham Lane where currently the
land has planning permission for D1/D2 use alongside Easteds Barn.

6.5

The application will result in an actual net increase of land in public open space use class. It
should be noted though that this application does not designate the additional land as part
of the Nutham Green Space (this can only be done through a review of the Neighbourhood
Plan) but it does limit its use to public open space rather than as part of Easteds Barn
community facility and therefore give some assurance to residents that this will remain as
such.

6.6

With the above considerations in mind it is considered that the principle of the change of use
of the land identified in the submitted plans is acceptable, subject to all other material
considerations

Page 42

Design and Appearance
6.7

Policies 25, 32 and 33 of the HDPF promote development that is of a high quality design,
which is sympathetic to the character and distinctiveness of the site and surroundings. The
landscape character of the area should be protected, conserved and enhanced, with
proposals contributing to a sense of place through appropriate scale, massing and
appearance.

6.8

The application relates to the material change of use of the land with no external alterations
proposed apart from compensatory planting. The nature of the proposed uses would be
appropriate in this location and there would be no adverse harm to the character and
appearance of the site and surroundings.

6.9

Concern has been raised in relation to the visual impact of the fence that has been erected
around the site. The erection of this fence was considered under an enforcement
investigation EN/19/0206 where it was claimed that the fence had been erected on common
land outside of the curtilage of Easteds Barn. It was concluded that as the Parish Council
own the entire site and the fence, that is less than 2 metres tall is erected on what appeared
to be a natural border for Easteds Barn that no breach of planning had occurred. As a result,
the fence, and its impact is not a matter for consideration as part of this application.

6.10

Despite that, the applicant is keen to negate the concerns raised by the community in relation
to the visual appearance of the fence. The applicants have therefore proposed a planting
scheme that will help to partly screen the fence and soften its appearance from the Nutham
Lane Open Space. This will also provide compensatory planting for the hedgerow that has
been lost between 2019 and now.

6.11

The concept of planting next to a footpath is explored through the ‘Secured By Design Homes
2019’, a document based on sound research findings that are proven to deliver significant
crime reductions and prepared in partnership with the police service. The planting proposed
will be subject to a maximum height of 1.1 metres and considering the width of the pavement
and the existing planting on the site, it is considered that natural surveillance will be
maintained to the play area and footpath whilst also creating a greener and softer
appearance to the fence line. As long as the vegetation is well maintained, kept to below the
maximum height (as indicated on planting plan drawing number 07 RevA) and stipulated in
the recommended condition, and the trees are sporadic within the lower native planting it is
considered an acceptable and safe solution.
Impact on Heritage Assets

6.12

Southwater Neighbourhood Plan Policy SNP19 identifies Easteds Barn as a Parish Heritage
Asset. Parish Heritage Assets are buildings which, although not officially designated, are
considered to be locally significant and important features which contribute to the character
and appearance of the Parish. As a non-designated heritage asset SNP19 states that any
proposals at Easteds Barn must demonstrate that the significance of the building as an asset,
and it’s setting will not be adversely impact.

6.13

This proposal seeks to retrospectively change of the use of a strip of land that has been
enclosed at Easteds Barn and no objection is raised to the change of use of the land in
heritage terms. Although it is considered that a more sympathetic boundary treatment could
have been proposed to soften the transition between the open space and the heritage asset,
the Conservation Officer supports the additional planting proposed be undertaken to soften
the appearance of the fence.

Page 43

Impact on Neighbour Amenity

6.14 Policy 33 of the HDPF states that development should consider the scale, massing and
orientation between buildings, respecting the amenities and sensitivities of neighbouring
properties.
6.15

It is considered that the change of use of these parcels of land will not result in additional
operations on the site or an intensification of use and no additional impact on nearby
neighbours will be felt by this change of use application.
Landscaping and Trees

6.16

As previously discussed the applicants have proposed an area of compensatory planting for
the site that will help to compensate for the lost hedgerow planting in the location where the
Change of Use from open space to E and F class is proposed. The planting on the site was
originally required via SQ/61/95 which stipulated that this had to be in place for 5 years from
the date of approval. In planning terms, there was no requirement for the layout to be
maintained as approved beyond those five years and there is no breach of planning by the
removal of this planting. This has been investigated by the Council’s enforcement officers
who determined that no breach had occurred.

6.17

Residents have raised many concerns around the loss of this stretch of hedgerow planting
that can be viewed on the Council’s photographic records as establishing and spreading out
across the site over time. As a Planning Department we are keen to ensure that trees and
green infrastructure are not lost through development and it is considered that the planting
scheme put forward by the applicants, although not mature in nature in the way the lost
vegetation was, is in the circumstances an acceptable compromise for the lost vegetation on
this site. The Council’s Tree Officer is satisfied that the species selection for the native
planting is appropriate and will have no negative impact on existing trees on the site.
Ecology

6.18

Policy 31 of the HDPF states that development will be supported where it demonstrates that
it maintains or enhances the existing network of green infrastructure. Development proposals
will be required to contribute to the enhancement of existing biodiversity, and should create
and manage new habitats where appropriate.

6.19

Residents of the nearby area have expressed their concern in relation to the loss of the
hedgerow and the impacts on ecology and biodiversity for the site and the local area.
Unfortunately as this application is retrospective impacts on breeding birds, reptiles, and
Priority species such as hedgehog and invertebrates, as a direct result of the removal of the
hedgerow cannot be assessed with any certainty.

6.20

The applicants have submitted a planting plan that demonstrates that the hedgerow will be
replaced with native species to compensate for the loss of the previous hedgerow. The
Planting Plan (Decimus Designs, June 2021) also demonstrates that the Hazel’s to be
planted will be larger specimens and the native species planting will be whips. This will
enable the LPA to demonstrate its compliance with its statutory duties including its
biodiversity duty under s40 NERC Act 2006.

6.21

The Council’s ecologists also recommend that, to secure measurable net gains for
biodiversity, as outlined under Paragraph 170d of the National Planning Policy Framework
2021, reasonable biodiversity enhancement measures will need to be provided. A
Biodiversity Enhancement Strategy for protected and Priority Species should be secured as
a condition of any consent. Given the scope of this application, this should include the
provision of a bird box and a bat box. They recommend that a bird box and bat box could be

Page 44

erected on suitable trees. These boxes should be fixed at heights above 2m and not in a
south facing aspect.
6.22

It should also be noted that although a substantial amount of low lying hedgerow has
regrettably been removed in the recent past, within the site the higher trees are still in place
providing substantial tree cover in the summer months to the southern side of Easteds Barn.
Water Neutrality

6.23

The application site falls within the Sussex North Water Supply Zone as defined by Natural
England which draws its water supply from groundwater abstraction at Hardham. Natural
England has issued a Position Statement for applications within the Sussex North Water
Supply Zone which states that it cannot be concluded with the required degree of certainty
that new development in this zone would not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the
Arun Valley SAC, SPA and Ramsar sites.

6.24

Natural England advises that plans and projects affecting sites where an existing adverse
effect is known will be required to demonstrate, with sufficient certainty, that they will not
contribute further to an existing adverse effect. The received advice note advises that the
matter of water neutrality should be addressed in assessments to agree and ensure that
water use is offset for all new developments within the Sussex North Water Supply Zone.

6.25

There is no clear or compelling evidence to suggest the nature and scale of the proposed
development would result in a more intensive use of the site necessitating an increased
consumption of water that would result in a significant impact on the Arun Valley SAC, SPA
and Ramsar sites, either alone or in combination with other plans and projects. The grant of
planning permission would not therefore adversely affect the integrity of these sites or
otherwise conflict with policy 31 of the HDPF, NPPF paragraph 180 and the Council’s
obligations under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.
Conclusions

6.26

This retrospective application seeks to regularise the change of use of an area of open space
that has been included within the boundary of Easteds Barn as a community use (Use Class
E). In response to this the applicants propose the change of use of an area of land to the
east of Easteds Barn that has historic planning permission to be used as part of Easteds
Barn (Use Class E) to Public Open Space.

6.27

This proposal will not result in the loss of any public open space and is considered to be
complaint with HDPF policy 43 in that it contributes towards the improvements of a
community facility.

6.28

The concerns of residents in relation to the loss of the mature hedgerow and the erection of
the fence are recognised and the compensatory planting is considered to be an acceptable
approach in this instance. This application is therefore recommended for approval subject to
the below conditions.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To approve the application subject to the following conditions:
1

Approved Plans

2

Regulatory Condition: Within three months of this decision a Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy for Protected and Priority species shall be submitted to the

Page 45

local planning authority for its approval in writing. The content of the Biodiversity
Enhancement Strategy shall include the following:
a) Purpose and conservation objectives for the proposed enhancement measures;
b) detailed designs to achieve stated objectives;
c) locations of proposed enhancement measures by appropriate maps and plans;
d) persons responsible for implementing the enhancement measures;
e) details of initial aftercare and long-term maintenance (where relevant).
The works shall be implemented in accordance with the approved details and shall
be retained in that manner thereafter.
Reason: To enhance Protected and Priority Species/habitats and allow the LPA to
discharge its duties under the s40 of the NERC Act 2006 (Priority habitats &
species).
3

Regulatory Condition: All planting works shall be carried out in accordance with
the details contained in the Planting Plan 07 Rev A (Decimus Designs, received 16
September 2021) within the first planting season following the approval of planning
permission. Any planting, which within a period of 5 years, dies, is removed, or
becomes seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting
season with others of similar size and species unless the Local Planning Authority
gives written consent to any variation.
Reason: To ensure a satisfactory development that is sympathetic to the landscape
and townscape character and built form of the surroundings, and in the interests of
visual amenity in accordance with Policy 33 of the Horsham District Planning
Framework (2015).

Page 46

07) DC/21/1539
Land at Easteds Barn, Easteds Lane, Southwater
Winchester

1 to 6

Shepherds

Court use only - not for distribution to the general
Mead public
For Business

Oa
kw

1

8

E
OS

LA
N

E

6

11

So
m

erl

ea
s

¯
8

7

18

EA
S

5

TE
DS

PORCHESTER

CL

oo
d

8

7

Easteds'
Farm

13

47.1m
Vale
broo
k Ho

use

50

unity

o u se

Cent
re

LA
N

45

E

56

1

Com
m

ell H

14

Old W

Play Area

21

57

SE

NU

O
CL

54

TH
AM

55

WINDSOR

25

60

10

1

E
DR
IV
CE
DA
R

8

30

4

27

9

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Scale: 1:1,250
Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

21/10/2021

Page 47MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

2nd November 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Retention of external store

SITE:

Easteds Barn Easteds Lane Southwater Horsham West Sussex RH13
9DP

WARD:

Southwater North

APPLICATION:

DC/21/0510

APPLICANT:

Name: Southwater Parish Council Address: Beeson House 26
Fairbank Rd Southwater RH13 9LA

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations within the
consultation period raising material planning
considerations that are inconsistent with the
recommendation of the Head of Development
and Building Control.
RECOMMENDATION:

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

1.

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT

1.1

To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.2

This application seeks retrospective planning permission for the erection of an external bin
store at Easteds Barn.

1.3

The bin store has a Gross Internal Floor Area (GIA) of 14 square metres and measures to
a height of between 2.15m and 2.25m. The store is integrated into the boundary fence
meaning that the boundary height is between 290mm and 390mm above the rest of the
fence line for 4.37m of length. The bin store consists of horizontal stained weatherboarding
and a brown stained timber door to the east elevation.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.4

The application site lies within the Built-Up-Area of Southwater adjacent to Nutham Lane
Open Space. Easteds Barn has a permitted D1/D2 use (DC/11/2502) and is currently being
used as a Children’s Day Nursery called ‘Little Barn Owls’ who lease the site from
Southwater Parish Council. This use now falls within use class E (f) Day Nursery.

Contact Officer: Kate Turner

Page 49

Tel:

1.5

The site consists of the main Easteds Barn building, a parking and service area and a
private nursery garden. The site is bordered by a 1.8 metre high close boarded fence and
some mature trees above.

1.6

Easteds Barn is identified in the Southwater Neighbourhood Plan Policy SNP19 as a Parish
Heritage Asset, a non-designated heritage asset as defined by the NPPF.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 41 - Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Southwater Neighbourhood Plan
SNP16: Design
SNP19 Parish Heritage Assets
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
SQ/61/95

DC/11/2502

DC/21/0297

DC/21/0511
DC/21/1539

Erection of community building and 23 space car
park
Site: Easteds Meadow Cedar Drive Southwater
Single storey extension to existing building and
variation of Condition 10 of SQ/61/95 (Use of building
for meeting room purposes only), to facilitate use of
overall premises for general D1 (Non residential
Institutions) and D2 (Assembly and Leisure)
purposes at Easteds Barn

Application Permitted on
30.08.1995

Retrospective application for the change of use of
land from public open space to mixed use (Use
Classes E(F) & F1(A)).
Retention of covered play area.

Under consideration

Retrospective application for the change of use of
67m2 land from public open space to mixed use (Use
Classes E(f) & F1(a)) and 559m2 of land from Use
Class E (formerly D1/D2) to public open space.

Under consideration

Application Permitted on
22.10.2013

Under consideration

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers
have had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the
public file at www.horsham.gov.uk

Page 50

INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS
HDC Conservation Officer: No objection
It is noted that Easteds Barn is identified as a Parish Heritage Asset within the Southwater
Neighbourhood Plan. Easteds Barn is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset as
defined in the NPPF. Paragraph 189 of the NPPF notes that heritage assets “are an
irreplaceable resource, and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their
significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of existing
and future generations.”
The effect of a proposal on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be
taken into account in determining applications. In weighing applications that directly or
indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage
asset. Application DC/21/0510 relates to the provision of an external store for the storage of
bins etc. within the curtilage of Easteds Barn. It is considered on balance that the proposal
due to its location and scale would still enable an appreciation of the building, and its
significance. No objection would therefore be raised to the application.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES
None Received

PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
11 letters of objection have been received from neighbouring residents. These
representations are summarised as:











More retrospective, creeping development
This building is adjacent to the path and creates a threatening narrow appearanceopportunities for crime and snit-social behaviour.
This building has added to parking problems in the local area as it encroaches into
the car park and reduces on site car parking
Smell from the bins
Not visually attractive
Higher than the fence line of 2 metres (and integral to it)
Objection in relation to the 2 metres fence and the creation of the alleyway along
the site
internal floor is higher than the surrounding area, with inadequate drainage to take
surface water
Over 2 metres in height
Within 8 metres of barn

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

Page 51

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Principle of Development

6.1

Policy 43 of the HDPF relates to ‘Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation’. It states that
‘The provision of new or improved community facilities or services will be supported,
particularly where they meet the identified needs of local communities’.

6.2

Policy 33 of the HDPF states that developments shall be required to incorporate where
appropriate convenient, safe and visually attractive areas for the parking of vehicles and
cycles, and the storage of bins/recycling facilities without dominating the development or its
surroundings

6.3

Little Barn Owl’s Nursery and Forest School is a full time nursery that cares for children 3
months to 5 years old. It is not unreasonable to expect that a use such as this would require
a dedicated bin storage building or other associated services. The condition requiring details
of refuse and recycling attached to DC/11/2502 (which granted permission for nursery use
of the site) never appears to have been discharged. The principle of the development of a
detached bin store on this site is acceptable.
Design, Appearance and Heritage Impact

6.4

The size of the storage area corresponds to the use of the building as a nursery and provides
sufficient space to accommodate the waste and recycling for that use. The storage area has
been in use for at least two years and is considered to suit the needs of the nursery.

6.5

The bins store appears to be easily accessed from the nursery but at a distance that provides
a safe, secure, and ventilated area for the storage of waste and recycling without causing
nuisance. The bins can then be easily moved for efficient collection.

6.6

The bin store has been constructed in an area where it is clear from historic aerial photos
that bins have been stored in association with Easteds Barn since at least 2007. The storage
area has been located to the rear of the building and within the confines of the site and
discretely integrated into the boundary fencing. The natural timber materials used to clad the
building match the boundary treatment and the structure blends well with this.

6.7

Southwater Neighbourhood Plan Policy SNP19 identifies Easteds Barn as a Parish Heritage
Asset. Parish Heritage Assets are buildings which, although not officially designated, are
considered to be locally significant and important features which contribute to the character
and appearance of the Parish. As a non-designated heritage asset SNP19 states that any
proposals at Easteds Barn must demonstrate that the significance of the building as an asset,
and it’s setting will not be adversely impacted.

6.8

In line with the Council’s Conservation Officers comments, it is considered that the store
does not harm the appreciation of the building and its significance as a non-designated
heritage asset, in accordance with Policy SNP19 of the Southwater Neighbourhood Plan.
Amenity Impacts

6.9

Concern has been raised in relation to the 1.8 metre high fence along the footpath in which
this building is integrated. The store is integrated into the boundary fence meaning that the
boundary height is between 290mm and 390mm above the rest of the fence line for 4.37m
of length. It is hard to justify the small increase in height of the fence at this particular point
as having a substantial contributing factor to the actual or perceived opportunities for crime
or antisocial behaviour on the site and in the surrounding area despite concerns raised by

Page 52

residents. The fence itself has been found to be lawful through previous enforcement
investigations.
6.10

The location of the bin store is the furthest away from residential neighbours and nursery
play space as possible and considered to be an ideal location for this service. There is
therefore not considered to be any unacceptable amenity impact caused by the erection of
this bin store in this location.
Conclusions

6.11

The bin store provides a purpose built enclosed and easily accessible covered storage
area for the bins associated with the use at Easteds Barn. This proposal is considered to
blend well with the surrounding site and have no unacceptable impact on the amenity of
nearby residents or the historic interest of the Barn.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To grant planning permission, subject to the conditions listed below:

Conditions:
1. Plans list

Page 53

This page is intentionally left blank

08) DC/21/0510
Easteds Barn, Easteds Lane, Southwater

Winchester
For Business
Court

1 to 6

Mead

Oa
kw

1

8

SE

E

6

11

erl

ea
s

8

ST

So
m

EA

7

18

oo
d

LA
N

O
CL

ED
S

PORCHESTER

¯

use only - not for distributionShepherds
to the general public

8

Easteds'
Farm

13

47.1m
Vale
broo

k Ho

use
10

50

Cent
re

11

unity

se

Play Area

21

57

SE

NU

O
CL

54

TH
AM

55

WINDSOR

17

LA
N

E

56

1

Com
m

ll Ho
u

14

Old W
e

21

25

60

CE
DA
R

DR
IV

30

E

4

27

10

1

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Scale: 1:1,250
Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

21/10/2021

Page 55MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

2nd November 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Retention of covered play area.

SITE:

Easteds Barn Easteds Lane Southwater Horsham West Sussex RH13
9DP

WARD:

Southwater North

APPLICATION:

DC/21/0511

APPLICANT:

Name: Southwater Parish Council Address: Beeson House 26
Fairbank Rd Southwater RH13 9LA

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations within the
consultation period raising material planning
considerations that are inconsistent with the
recommendation of the Head of Development
and Building Control.

RECOMMENDATION:

1.

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

This application seeks retrospective planning permission for the erection of a covered play
area within the boundary of Easteds Barn. The shelter is located against the north eastern
boundary of the enclosed site.

1.2

The covered play area has a depth of 3.48 metres and length of 7.75m with a footprint of
27sqm. It has a pitched roof 2.6m in height and 2.3m to the eaves. Two thirds of the front
elevation facing the outdoor play area is open allowing children to come and go from the
area and be visible to staff. The west elevation has an open square window, and the east
and north elevations are closed.

1.3

The materials consist of timber stud walls with painted timber horizontal cladding. The
pitched roof is a single ply roofing membrane and charcoal grey colour. Rainwater goods are
black PVC.

Contact Officer: Kate Turner

Page 57

Tel:

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE
1.4

The application site lies within the Built-Up-Area of Southwater adjacent to Nutham Lane
Open Space. Easteds Barn has a permitted D1/D2 use (DC/11/2502) and is currently being
used as a Children’s Day Nursery called ‘Little Barn Owls’ who lease the site from Southwater
Parish Council. This use now falls within use class E (f) Day Nursery.

1.5

The site consists of the main Easteds Barn building, a parking and service area and a private
nursery garden. The site is bordered by a 1.8 metre high close boarded fence and some
mature trees above. Easteds Barn is identified in the Southwater Neighbourhood Plan Policy
SNP19 as a Parish Heritage Asset, a non-designated heritage asset as defined by the NPPF.

2.

INTRODUCTION

2.1

STATUTORY BACKGROUND
The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 2 - Strategic Policy: Strategic Development
Policy 3 - Strategic Policy: Development Hierarchy
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 41 - Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation
RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Southwater Neighbourhood Plan
SNP16: Design
SNP19 Parish Heritage Assets
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
SQ/61/95

DC/11/2502

DC/18/2212

DC/21/0297

DC/21/0510
DC/21/1539

Erection of community building and 23 space car
park
Site: Easteds Meadow Cedar Drive Southwater
Single storey extension to existing building and
variation of Condition 10 of SQ/61/95 (Use of building
for meeting room purposes only), to facilitate use of
overall premises for general D1 (Non residential
Institutions) and D2 (Assembly and Leisure)
purposes at Easteds Barn
Erection of an entrance porch and changes to
existing fenestration. Internal sub-division by the
installation of a first floor and staircase; internal
partitioning; relocation of kitchen and WC facilities.
Retrospective application for the change of use of
land from public open space to mixed use (Use
Classes E(F) & F1(A)).
Retention of external store

Application Permitted on
30.08.1995

Retrospective application for the change of use of
67m2 land from public open space to mixed use (Use
Classes E(f) & F1(a)) and 559m2 of land from Use
Class E (formerly D1/D2) to public open space.

Under consideration

Page 58

Application Permitted on
22.10.2013

Application Permitted on
12.12.2018

Under consideration

Under consideration

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers
have had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the
public file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS
HDC Environmental Health: Comment
Due to its location and close proximity to the neighbouring properties it is recommended that
a scheme of sound insulation is proposed for the play shelter area and that a Noise
Management Plan is drawn up to control noise from all activities at the site.
HDC Conservation Officer: No objection
It is noted that Easteds Barn is identified as a Parish Heritage Asset within the Southwater
Neighbourhood Plan. Easteds Barn is considered to be a non-designated heritage asset as
defined in the NPPF. Paragraph 189 of the NPPF notes that heritage assets “are an
irreplaceable resource, and should be conserved in a manner appropriate to their
significance, so that they can be enjoyed for their contribution to the quality of life of existing
and future generations.”
The effect of a proposal on the significance of a non-designated heritage asset should be
taken into account in determining applications. In weighing applications that directly or
indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a balanced judgement will be required
having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the significance of the heritage
asset. Application DC/21/0511 relates to the provision of a covered play area within the
curtilage of Easteds Barn. Whilst it is unfortunate that the design and materials used for the
covered play area do not reflect the historic character of the principal building, it is considered
on balance that the proposal due to its location and scale would still enable an appreciation
of the building, and its significance. No objection would therefore be raised to the application.
OUTSIDE AGENCIES
None Received
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
Eight letters of objection have been received. These can be summarised as:
 May be being used as an outside classroom for forest school
 No sound proofing to the barn or noise restrictions
 Constant external noise
 There were also further conditions imposed restricting noise levels for any activities
on the site in the previous application for the change of use- see planning
conditions 8 and 9. The first of these related to external sound, including music. The
second to noise generated within the barn building, condition 9
 Impact on parking
 Over intensification of the site

Page 59

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Principle of Development

6.1

Policy 43 of the HDPF relates to ‘Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation’. It states that
‘The provision of new or improved community facilities or services will be supported,
particularly where they meet the identified needs of local communities’.

6.2

This application relates to the erection of a play shelter within the existing ground of the day
nursery. The principle of new or improved facilities for the permitted community facility on
this site is accepted, subject to all other material considerations.
Design and Appearance

6.3

This application relates to the erection of a wooden play shelter in an existing nursery
playground. The shelter consists of timber stud walls with painted timber horizontal cladding
and a grey membrane flat roof in charcoal grey. The building has a footprint of 27 m2 with a
pitched roof of 2.6 metres to the ridge and 2.3 metres to the eaves. There are solid walls on
the sides facing the neighbouring properties and openings facing Easteds Barn and the
remainder of the playground, as illustrated on the submitted plans.

6.4

The play shelter is positioned in the north eastern corner of the site on the boundary with
Valebrook House, Easteds Lane and separated by an area of open space and two boundary
fences from 1 Nutham Lane.

6.5

The design of the shelter is considered to be commensurate with its intended use and its
location in the corner of the site adjacent to a mature line of trees is considered to have little
visual impact from surrounding neighbours/ viewpoints. Although the building is potentially
visible above the fence line in winter when the vegetation cover may be more sparse, this is
considered to be common place in residential areas such as these where shed type
outbuildings such as these are common place.
Impact on Heritage Assets

6.6

Southwater Neighbourhood Plan Policy SNP19 identifies Easteds Barn as a Parish Heritage
Asset. Parish Heritage Assets are buildings which, although not officially designated, are
considered to be locally significant and important features which contribute to the character
and appearance of the Parish. As a non-designated heritage asset SNP19 states that any
proposals at Easteds Barn must demonstrate that the significance of the building as an asset,
and it’s setting will not be adversely impact.

6.7

Paragraph 203 of the NPPF requires that the effect of a proposal on the significance of a
non-designated heritage asset should be taken into account in determining applications. In
weighing applications that directly or indirectly affect non-designated heritage assets, a
balanced judgement will be required having regard to the scale of any harm or loss and the

Page 60

significance of the heritage asset. The Conservation Officer has concluded that whilst it is
unfortunate that the design and materials used for the covered play area do not reflect the
historic character of the principal building, it is considered on balance that the proposal due
to its location and scale would still enable an appreciation of the building, and its
significance. No objection would therefore be raised to the application.
Amenity Impacts on Neighbours
6.8

Planning permission for a D1/D2 use on the site was granted in 2011. This allowed for the
site to be used as a day nursery, falling within the use class D1. Class D was revoked from
1 September 2020 and that D1 has been replaced by the Classes E(e-f) and F1 and D2 is
replaced by the new Classes E(d) and F2(c-d) as well as several newly defined ‘Sui Generis’
uses. A day nursery specifically falls within use class E(f) Day Nursery.

6.9

Concern has been raised as to the noise impact of the play shelter on nearby residents, in
particular the properties closest to the site at Valebrook House and 1 and 2 Nutham Lane.
It is noted that no objection has been received from Valebrook House or 1 Nutham Lane
themselves.

6.10

It is noted that the area where the play shelter has been erected has previously been used
as part of the children’s play area/ garden under it’s permitted use. There would therefore
already be an element of activity carried out at this location within the site in connection with
the permitted use of the site.

6.11

The current use was permitted under DC/11/2502. This permission was accompanied by two
conditions relating to noise that are still relevant and enforceable on the site. These
conditions are re-produced below:
8) Any external public address system installed on the site shall be used for operational
announcements only and at no time shall it be used for purposes of advertisement or the
relaying of music, unless otherwise agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: In the interests of the amenities of the locality and in accordance with policy DC9
of the Horsham District Local Development Framework: General Development Control
Policies (2007).
9) The noise from any activity, which forms part of the development/use, shall not exceed
the existing background noise levels (as measured in the applicants noise assessment
dated June 2011). In order to achieve this, the activities should be designed/selected, or
the noise from the activities attenuated so as to maintain the existing noise climate and
assist in reducing 'ambient noise creep' (the gradual increase in background noise levels in
a built-up area due to consecutive small increases). Day time noise measurements to be
based on a 1 hour LAeq and night time on a 5 minute LAeq in line with BS4142.
Reason: In the interests of amenity and to ensure the use of the site does not have a
harmful environmental effect and in accordance with policy DC9 of the Horsham District
Local Development Framework: General Development Control Policies (2007).

6.12

With the above conditions still being enforceable it is not considered to be necessary or
reasonable to insist on further noise controlling conditions or a Noise Management Plan in
relation to this covered play area. The granting of permission for the whole site to be used
as a D1/D2 site in 2011 means that this part of the land can already lawfully be used for a
play area in connection with that use, therefore the addition of a shelter will have no
perceptible bearing on noise levels that the use of the outside areas could potentially create.
In any event, the outside areas and potential use of the shelter as teaching or play space for
the nursery would be under constant supervision by nursery staff. Whilst condition 9 refers
to noise from ‘all activity’ as being restricted, it is clear when reading the noise assessment

Page 61

and environmental health officer comments submitted under DC/11/2502 that the noise
concerns were centred around noise breaking out from the building from music and other
events, rather than outside noise to which no reference was ever made.
6.13

Nevertheless, in light of neighbour concerns to safeguard neighbouring amenity it is
recommended that the shelter is not used outside of the hours of 8am and 6pm. Placing such
a restriction on the structure would ensure the structure remains empty during the early and
late hours of the day.
Conclusions

6.14

This retrospective application for the erection of a detached play shelter for use by the day
nursery permitted on the site is considered to be of a design and appearance acceptable in
this location and the presence of this building, which the applications solely relates to, will
result in no increase in harmful impacts on neighbouring amenity and have no unacceptable
impact on the historic interest of the Barn.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

To grant planning permission, subject to the conditions listed below:

Conditions:
1

Plans condition

2

Regulatory Condition: The play shelter shall not be used except between the hours of 8am
and 6pm Monday to Friday.
Reason: To safeguard the amenities of neighbouring properties in accordance with Policy
33 of the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 62

09) DC/21/0511
Easteds Barn, Easteds Lane, Southwater

Winchester
For Business
Court

1 to 6

Mead

Oa
kw

1

8

SE

E

6

11

erl

ea
s

8

ST

So
m

EA

7

18

oo
d

LA
N

O
CL

ED
S

PORCHESTER

¯

use only - not for distributionShepherds
to the general public

8

Easteds'
Farm

13

47.1m
Vale
broo

k Ho

use
10

50

Cent
re

11

unity

se

Play Area

21

57

SE

NU

O
CL

54

TH
AM

55

WINDSOR

17

LA
N

E

56

1

Com
m

ll Ho
u

14

Old W
e

21

25

60

CE
DA
R

DR
IV

30

E

4

27

10

1

Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Scale: 1:1,250
Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

21/10/2021

Page 63MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

2nd November 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Construction of a new roof. Installation of solar panels, an air source heat
pump and installation of rooflights and windows (part-retrospective).

SITE:

St Peters Hall Three Acres Horsham West Sussex RH12 1RS

WARD:

Denne

APPLICATION:

DC/21/1364

APPLICANT:

Name: Peter Williams
Weybridge KT13 8HD

Address: Locke King House 2 Balfour Road

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: The site is owned by the District Council.

RECOMMENDATION:

1.

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

Part-retrospective planning permission is sought for alterations to the buildings at St Peters
Hall in Horsham, a site owned by Horsham District Council. The alterations are:
 The installation of two solar photovoltaic arrays (one to the southern roofslope of the
nursery school building, and one to the flat roof of the six-bay garage building to the rear
of the site);
 Installation of three rooflights to the northern roofslope of the main hall building;
 The installation of five windows and one door to the eastern elevation of the RAFA club
building;
 The removal of two four-paned window units (one to the ground floor and one to the
mezzanine level) to the northern elevation of the main hall building;
 The removal of four four-paned window units to the southern elevation at mezzanine
level;
 The removal of one door and window to the ground floor of the southern elevation, and
associated cladding;
 The widening of an existing door to the southern elevation;
 Re-roofing of the main hall building, and;
 The installation of an air source heat pump with associated acoustic screening to the
northern elevation of the building, facing the car park.

Contact Officer: Robert Hermitage

Page 65

Tel: 01403 215382

DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE
1.2

The application relates to a cluster of existing community centre buildings sited on the
western side of Three Acres, on the junction to Blackbridge Lane, containing a nursey, RAFA
Club, and St Peter’s Hall building. The site comprises an area some 0.23ha in size, with
single and two storey former farm buildings composed of a stock brick facing with red brick
quoining, and pitched tiled roofs and flat roof elements. The site also includes a six-bay flat
roofed garage block to the rear of the site close to the boundary to the neighbouring property
to the north, no. 22 Three Acres. The site comprises some planting to the southern and
eastern boundaries with close boarded fencing.

1.3

The wider surrounding area is predominantly composed of detached and terraces dwellings,
with flatted accommodation to the east and south, in addition to retail units to the south on
Blackbridge Lane. The site is located within the built-up area boundary of Horsham.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 24 - Strategic Policy: Environmental Protection
Policy 25 - Strategic Policy: The Natural Environment and Landscape Character
Policy 31 - Green Infrastructure and Biodiversity
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles
Policy 34 - Cultural and Heritage Assets
Policy 35 - Strategic Policy: Climate Change
Policy 36 - Strategic Policy: Appropriate Energy Use
Policy 37 - Sustainable Construction
Policy 38 - Strategic Policy: Flooding
Policy 39 - Strategic Policy: Infrastructure Provision
Policy 40 - Sustainable Transport
Policy 41 - Parking
Policy 42 - Strategic Policy: Inclusive Communities
Policy 43 - Community Facilities, Leisure and Recreation
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
HU/208/58

Conversion of barn into sunday school
Comment: And b. regs
(From old Planning History)

DC/07/2833

Change of use from band practice hall (sui Application Permitted
generis) to D1 use class comprising pre-school on 08.02.2008
(maximum hours 8am - 6pm) and music, drama
and art activities (6pm - 9pm)

HU/71/53

Horsham silver band practice room Comment: Application Permitted
H.u.d.c (From old Planning History)
on 06.06.1953

Page 66

Application Permitted
on 09.09.1958

DC/04/1476

Demolition of existing garages, erection of single- Application Permitted
storey courtyard extension, new facade to on 05.10.2004
Blackbridge Lane and internal alterations

HU/268/86

External fire escape (From old Planning History) Application Permitted
on 02.10.1986

HU/320/75

Use of premises for the storage of sheet glass Application Permitted
(From old Planning History)
on 04.02.1976

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Where consultation responses have been summarised, it should be noted that Officers have
had consideration of the full comments received, which are available to view on the public
file at www.horsham.gov.uk
INTERNAL CONSULTATIONS
HDC Environmental Health: No Objection, subject to conditions (attached)
OUTSIDE AGENCIES
WSCC Highways: No Objection, subject to condition (attached)
Southern Water: No Objection
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.2

Denne Neighbourhood Council have raised no objection to this proposal.

3.3

No letters of representation have been received.

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS
Design and Appearance

6.1

Policy 32 of the Horsham District Planning Framework 2015 (HDPF) states that good design
is a key element in sustainable development and seeks to ensure that development
promotes a high standard of urban design, architecture and landscape. Policy 33 of the
HDPF states that development proposals should make efficient use of land, ensures that the
scale, massing and appearance of the development is to a high standard, is locally distinctive
in character, uses high standards of building materials, finishes and landscaping, and
presumes in favour of the retention of existing important landscaping and natural features.

Page 67

6.2

The site is owned by the District Council and contains various community uses. The proposal
seeks various alteration to provide facilities for the disabled, a schedule of maintenance and
‘Greening’ of the premises utilising a Government Grant that the Authority was successful in
obtaining in February 2021. The proposal also comprises various alterations to the external
elevations of the buildings.

6.3

At the time that Officers attended a visit to the site (25th August 2021), it was noted that the
majority of the works had already commenced on the site, with most of the external
alterations having already being completed.

6.4

The alterations already undertaken to the windows and fenestration match the appearance
and character of the existing parts of the building, thus are not considered to appear out of
character. The rooflights installed are conservation style, featuring a low profile and a central
glazing bar. The replacement tiling to the main roof of the building, including a small portion
of the RAFA roof, match those pre-existing, albeit lighter in colour- the tiles will weather with
age to match the darker appearing tiles the remaining parts of the building. Officers raise no
concerns with regards to the external appearance and elevational treatment proposed and
already undertaken as part of the proposal.

6.5

The solar array installed to the southern roofslope of the nursery building covers
approximately 50% of the roof and is visible from the street on Blackbridge Lane. The solar
array to the rear garage block covers the entire roof, installed in three rows tilted at a
30degree angle and would only be visible from a first floor viewpoint. Overall, the solar arrays
are not considered to visually detract from the character and appearance of the building.

6.6

The proposed air source heat pump (ASHP) is to be located to the rear of the building facing
north, to the rear / side of the main hall building within the car park, and would include an
enclosed acoustic screen. The enclosure would be located to the rear of the building away
from immediate public view, comprising a height of 2.5m. Depending on the outcome of
acoustic assessments for the ASHP, the screen may not be required (further detailed below).
In the event that a screen in needed, the submitted details indicate that the screen would
comprise a rookwool batts-like appearance (insulation) set behind a black painted mesh
fencing. Whilst the screen would be predominantly hidden from public view, it is considered
that the appearance of the screen could be improved. As there is no objection to the principle
of such a screen in this location, and there is possibility that it is not needed, a condition has
been attached to ensure that the final detail of its appearance if first approved by the Council
prior to its installation.

6.7

With the above in mind, the proposed external alterations are not considered to adversely
impact on the setting or character of the clusters of buildings or the wider surrounding area.
As such, the proposal is considered in accordance with Policy 32 and 33 of the HDPF.
Amenity Impact

6.8

Policy 33(2) of the HDPF states that permission will be granted for development that does
not cause unacceptable harm to the amenity of the occupiers/users of nearby properties and
land.

6.9

The proposal would not introduce any additional built form, height, or bulk to the building
compared to the pre-existing arrangement, nor introduce any windows to the first floor
elevations. Furthermore, the proposal would not result in any increased activity on the site
over and above the existing use. As such, the proposal would not amount to any adverse
harm with regards to overlooking, overbearing, or overshadowing.

6.10

The new ASHP would be located to the rear of the building, within the car park of the site,
and would be enclosed within an acoustic screen (if necessary). Following consultation with

Page 68

the Council’s Environmental Health Officers, it was considered that the proposed screen
could adequately control noise emissions that could be harmful to neighbouring amenity. It
was further noted that a noise survey will be undertaken once installed to ascertain whether
the screen would be required. In light of this, a condition has been suggested to ensure that
noise levels would be acceptable to a certain standard and within a reasonable timeframe of
their installation. As such, no concerns are raised to this regard.
6.11

With the above in mind, the proposed works would not result in any harm to neighbouring
amenity, in accordance with Policy 33(2) of the HDPF.
Climate change

6.12

HDPF Policies 35, 36 and 37 require that development mitigates to the impacts of climate
change through measures including improved energy efficiency, reducing flood risk,
reducing water consumption, improving biodiversity and promoting sustainable transport
modes. These policies reflect the requirements of Chapter 14 of the NPPF that local plans
and decisions seek to reduce the impact of development on climate change.

6.13

The proposal incorporates a number of works to increase the sustainability of the site as a
whole, including;
 internal and external insulation
 installation of solar photovoltaic arrays
 installation of an air source heat pump

6.14

The proposed works as listed above are considered to result in an overall improvement to
the thermal efficiency and energy consumption of one of the Council’s assets, and would
contribute Council’s aim to improve to overall sustainability of its property in response to
climate change. As such, the proposal is considered to accord with HDPF Policies 35, 36,
and 37.
Other Matters

6.15

The proposed ASHP would be located in the location of an existing car parking space, thus
result in the loss of one car parking space. Given the location of the site within a
predominantly residential area, the loss of one space is not considered to adversely affect
accessibility of the site in terms of car use. Following consultation with WSCC Highway
Team, no objection was raised with regards to the above. Furthermore, the applicant has
stated that the proposal incorporates the provision of two Sheffield cycle parking stands to
serve four bikes, provision which is currently absent on the site. The proposal would therefore
facilitate sustainable transport methods. No details other than stating they would be located
to the rear have been provided. A pre-occupation condition is therefore attached to ensure
that this detail is provided prior to the site being bought back into use. No works are proposed
to the existing access to the site. As such, the proposal is considered to accord with HDPF
Policies 40 and 41.

6.16

In addition to the numerous external alterations being made as above, the proposal also
incorporates several internal changes to improve accessibility for disabled users of the site
including level access into the building and wheelchair complaint ramps internally. The
proposal therefore provides positive measures to incorporate the needs of the community,
helping create a more socially inclusive environment, in accordance with HDPF Policy 42.
Conclusion

6.17

Overall, the proposed works do not detract from the character and appearance of the building
or the wider surrounding area, and would not adversely impact on the amenities of the
adjoining neighbouring properties. Furthermore, the proposal incorporates a number of

Page 69

measures to combat climate change, in addition to measures to create a more socially
inclusive asset to the community.
6.18

For the reasons outlined above, Officers recommend that part-retrospective consent is
granted, subject to the conditions listed below.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS
Conditions:

1

A list of the approved plans

2

Pre-Commencement (Installation) Condition: Notwithstanding the submitted details,
details including materials of the final proposed design and appearance of the acoustic
screen to the northern elevation of the main part of the building shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to its installation. The works shall
thereafter be undertaken in strict accordance with the approved details.
Reason: In the interests of visual and neighbouring amenity, in accordance with Policy 33 of
the Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

3

Pre-Occupation Condition: Prior to building being bought back into use, details of the
proposed cycle parking facilities shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The works shall be undertaken in strict accordance with the approved
detail and maintained in perpetuity unless otherwise agreed to and approved in writing by
the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To ensure that adequate cycle parking facilities are provided to accommodate the
needs of the site, in accordance with Policy 41 of the Horsham District Planning Framework
(2015).

4

Regulatory Condition: The Noise rating level from any mechanical equipment or building
services plant shall not exceed 3dB below background noise level when assessed outside
the window of the nearest noise sensitive commercial or residential premises. Within 6 weeks
of the date of commissioning all equipment and plant, a noise assessment shall be carried
out to confirm the noise target has been met for both day and night time operation. The
assessment of the acoustic impact arising from the operation of the building services plant
shall be undertaken in accordance with BS 4142: 2014 (or subsequent superseding
equivalent) and other relevant measures. Any additional steps required to mitigate the noise
impact shall be identified and implemented within 3 months of operation commencing. The
post installation noise assessment shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The details as approved shall thereafter be permanently retained.
Reason: In the interest of amenity in accordance with Policy 33(2) of the Horsham District
Planning Framework (2015).

Page 70

10) DC/21/1364
St Peters Hall, Three Acres, Horsham

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public

¯

Scale: 1:2,500
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

21/10/2021

Page 71MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

5th October 2021

DEVELOPMENT:

Conversion of loft to form habitable living space, creation of dormer to
side elevation, installation of rooflights to side and front and amended and
additional fenestration works.

SITE:

54 Merryfield Drive Horsham West Sussex RH12 2BA

WARD:

Trafalgar

APPLICATION:

DC/21/0799

APPLICANT:

Name: Mr Martin Boffey
Address: 54 Merryfield Drive Horsham West Sussex RH12 2BA

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: The applicant is an elected member of Horsham
District Council
RECOMMENDATION:
1.

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

The application is seeking planning permission for the extension and conversion of the loft
to form habitable living space, creation of dormer to side elevation, installation of rooflights
to side and front and amended and additional fenestration works.

1.2

The proposal is to extend the existing hipped roof above the ground floor to the east of the
property to allow for conversion of the loft to create an additional bedroom and en-suite.
The proposal also includes the creation of a dormer window and installation of 5x rooflights
to the front and side roofslope to serve the additional roofspace.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.3

The application site comprises a detached single storey dwelling occupying a rectangular
corner plot on the east side of Merryfield Drive. The property dates to the 1950s of brick
construction under a hipped roof. The wider area is characterised by similar style 1950s
properties of varying sizes including detached and semi-detached two storey properties
and bungalows. Many of the properties in the locality have been the subject of
development through ground floor extensions and loft conversions.

Contact Officer: Marie Riggs

Page 73

Tel: 01403 215497

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES

2.2

The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles

2.3

RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
No neighbourhood plan has been made for the combined Horsham Blueprint
Neighbourhood Forum Area which comprises the unparished areas of Denne, Forest and
Trafalgar neighbourhoods.
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
None relevant

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS
CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Horsham Society raised an objection to the application for the following reasons:



Design
Other

Following the receipt of the additional amended plans and reconsultation, no further
comments have been received.
3.2

No representations have been received from the Neighbourhood Council during the
consultation process.
PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS

3.3

One letter of representation has been received objecting to the application for the following
reasons:



Loss of privacy
Loss of light

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

Page 74

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.1

The main issues are the principle of the development in the location and the effect of the
development on:



6.2

6.3

6.4

The character of the dwelling and the visual amenities of the area
The amenities of the occupiers of adjacent properties

Policy 32 of the Horsham District Planning Framework Policy (HDPF) relates to improving
the quality of new development. It states that permission will be granted for developments
which ensure the scale, massing, and appearance of the development is of a high standard
of design which relates well to the host building and adjoining neighbouring properties.
Design and Appearance
As part of the application process amended plans have been received which have replaced
the previously proposed dormers. It is considered that the resulting form is more
appropriate to the host building and would retain its existing character and appearance.
The proposed extension to the main body of the roof would better integrate with the
existing rear/side extension and create a more cohesive appearance to the building. The
side dormer is modest in scale and would not harm the appearance of the building or wider
streetscene, which contains a variety of bungalows forms. Overall the resultant appearance
of the building is considered appropriate in scale and form I accordance with Policy 32.
Impact on Neighbouring Amenity
The nature and siting of the proposed roof extension would not lead to any unacceptable
loss of light or outlook for adjoining occupants. The angle and orientation of the proposed
rooflights would not create significant potential for intrusive downward overlooking to
adjoining properties and normal domestic lighting would not be expected to result in any
harmful light spill, with the resulting relationship between properties not unusual or
unexpected in an established residential location such as this. The amenity impacts of the
proposal are therefore considered acceptable.

6.5

Conclusion
The impact of the proposal was assessed during a site visit. The proposal is considered to
be of an appropriate design, form and scale which is in keeping with the character and
appearance of the existing dwelling and would not harm the character or appearance of the
wider area. It is considered that the scale and siting of the proposed works would be
sufficient to prevent any significant impact on the amenities of adjoining occupiers.

7.

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

It is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the appropriate conditions
as detailed below:

Conditions:
1

Plans Compliance Condition

2

Regulatory (Time) Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun before
the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990

Page 75

3

Regulatory Condition: The materials and finishes of all new external walls, windows and
roofs of the development hereby permitted shall match in type, colour and texture those of
the existing building.
Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policy 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 76

11) DC/21/0799
54 Merryfield Drive, Horsham
77

¯

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public
37

66

43

71

25

69

64

20

10

67

61

57

RR
YFI
E LD

54

DR
IV E

61

LB

86

ME

2

52

53

HIL

LM

EA

D

72
63

44

68

51

14
13

43

Scale: 1:1,250
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

21/10/2021

Page 77MSA Number

100023865

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 12
PLANNING COMMITTEE
REPORT
TO:

Planning Committee North

BY:

Head of Development and Building Control

DATE:

2nd November 2021

DEVELOPMENT:
SITE:

Erection of a single storey side extension with associated internal
modifications.
Lower Toat Barn Five Oaks Road Slinfold Horsham West Sussex RH13
0RL

WARD:

Itchingfield, Slinfold and Warnham

APPLICATION:

DC/21/0127

APPLICANT:

Name: Mrs Laura Temple Address: Lower Toat Barn, Five Oaks Road
Slinfold RH13 0RL

REASON FOR INCLUSION ON THE AGENDA: More than eight persons in different households
have made written representations within the
consultation period raising material planning
considerations that are inconsistent with the
recommendation of the Head of Development
RECOMMENDATION:

1.

To approve planning permission subject to appropriate conditions

THE PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
To consider the planning application.
DESCRIPTION OF THE APPLICATION

1.1

The application is seeking planning permission for the erection of a single storey side
extension to the west elevation to create a larger kitchen, dining and family living space.
DESCRIPTION OF THE SITE

1.2

The application site is a barn conversion approved under planning reference SF/3/03 and
comprises a timber framed barn located on the northern side of Five Oaks Road. The
building is set in open countryside, characterised by sporadic residential development. The
application site is outside of any built-up area boundary and in a countryside location in
planning policy terms.

2.

INTRODUCTION
STATUTORY BACKGROUND

2.1

The Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Contact Officer: Marie Riggs

Page 79

Tel: 01403 215497

RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES
2.2

The following Policies are considered to be relevant to the assessment of this application:
National Planning Policy Framework
Horsham District Planning Framework (HDPF 2015)
Policy 1 - Strategic Policy: Sustainable Development
Policy 28 - Replacement Dwellings and House Extensions in the Countryside
Policy 32 - Strategic Policy: The Quality of New Development
Policy 33 - Development Principles

2.3

RELEVANT NEIGHBOURHOOD PLAN
Slinfold Neighbourhood Plan 2014-2031
Policy 5: Development Principles
PLANNING HISTORY AND RELEVANT APPLICATIONS
DC/06/2516

Erection of new stable block comprising 2 stables,
tackroom and sandschool

Application Permitted on
14.12.2006

DC/09/1932

Replacement link single-storey extension

Application Permitted on
12.01.2010

3.

OUTCOME OF CONSULTATIONS

3.1

Natural England: Objection
It cannot be concluded that existing abstraction within the Sussex North Water Supply
Zone is not having an adverse effect on the integrity of the Arun Valley SAC/SPA/Ramsar
sites. Developments within Sussex North must therefore must not add to this impact and
one way of achieving this is to demonstrate water neutrality. The definition of water
neutrality is the use of water in the supply area before the development is the same or
lower after the development is in place.
To achieve this Natural England is working in partnership with all the relevant authorities to
secure water neutrality collectively through a water neutrality strategy. Whilst the strategy
is evolving, Natural England advises that decisions on planning applications should await
its completion. However, if there are applications which a planning authority deems critical
to proceed in the absence of the strategy, then Natural England advises that any
application needs to demonstrate water neutrality.

3.2

Slinfold Parish Council raised an objection to the application for the following reasons:
 Serious concerns from residents re: visibility and access. This was conditioned in
SF/3/03.
 The sight lines must be reviewed, and plans put in place and assurances given to
address visibility issues.
 A condition about visibility seems to have been removed

Page 80

3.2

PUBLIC CONSULTATIONS
10 representations have been received (from 8 individual addresses) objecting to the
proposal for the following reasons:  The residential property is being used as a commercial business, with commercial
vehicles accessing the site.
 Concerns that the extension would be used in association with the commercial use.
 Previously approved sight lines have not been implemented, with visibility poor.
 Raise concerns in respect of sewage arrangements.

4.

HOW THE PROPOSED COURSE OF ACTION WILL PROMOTE HUMAN RIGHTS

4.1

Article 8 (Right to respect of a Private and Family Life) and Article 1 of the First Protocol
(Protection of Property) of the Human Rights Act 1998 are relevant to this application,
Consideration of Human rights forms part of the planning assessment below.

5.

HOW THE PROPOSAL WILL HELP TO REDUCE CRIME AND DISORDER

5.1

It is not considered that the development would be likely to have any significant impact on
crime and disorder.

6.

PLANNING ASSESSMENTS

6.1

The main issues are the principle of the development in the location and the effect of the
development on:
-

The character of the dwelling and the visual amenities of the area
The amenities of the occupiers of adjacent properties

6.2

Policy 28 of the HDPF states that outside the defined built-up areas, house extensions,
replacement dwellings and ancillary accommodation will be permitted if the development can
be accommodated appropriately within the curtilage of the existing dwelling. It also requires
that extensions should not be disproportionate to the size of the existing dwellings whilst also
being sympathetic and subservient to the scale and character of the existing dwelling.

6.3

Policy 32 of the HDPF relates to improving the quality of new development. It states that
permission will be granted for developments which ensure the scale, massing, and
appearance of the development is of a high standard of design which relates well to the host
building and adjoining neighbouring properties. Policy 33 of the HDPF also seeks to ensure
that development proposals make efficient use of land, cause no harm to amenity, integrate
effectively with the character of the surrounding area, use high quality and appropriate
materials, retain landscaping where feasible (and mitigate loss if necessary) and ensure no
conflict with the character of the surrounding town or landscape.
Design and Appearance

6.4

As part of the application process amended plans have been received which have replaced
the previously proposed flat-roof and replaced it with a pitched roof with side gables and a
central valley. It is considered that the resulting form is more appropriate to the host building
and would retain its existing character and appearance. The proposed siting would not be
particularly visible from a public vantage point and in views from adjoining properties and
land. It is considered that the scale and form of the extension is sufficient to ensure the
addition does not appear an unduly dominant addition to the site or surrounding area.

Page 81

Impact on Neighbouring Amenity
6.5

In relation to impact on residential amenity, the proposed extension would be set an
appropriate distance from the adjacent properties and would not result in a harmful impact
in terms of loss of light, privacy, outlook or an increased sense of enclosure.

Water Neutrality
6.6

There is no clear or compelling evidence to suggest the nature and scale of the proposed
development would result in a more intensive occupation of the dwelling necessitating an
increased consumption of water that would result in a significant impact on the Arun Valley
SAC, SPA and Ramsar sites, either alone or in combination with other plans and projects.
The grant of planning permission would not therefore adversely affect the integrity of these
sites or otherwise conflict with policy 31 of the HDPF, NPPF paragraph 180 and the Council’s
obligations under the Conservation of Habitats and Species Regulations 2017.

6.7

Other considerations
It is noted concerns were raised from neighbouring properties with regards to possible
commercial use of the site and breach of a condition to a previous planning permission in
relation to visibility splays. This application does not propose any material change of use at
the site with the issues raised investigated separately by the Council’s Planning Compliance
Team.

6.8

It is noted that the Parish Council has raised concerns with regards to access, visibility and
site lines. This application does not propose any alterations to existing access arrangements
or any intensification of use of the site therefore it is not necessary or reasonable to apply a
condition relating to visibility splays.

Conclusion
6.9

The proposed extension would retain separation from the shared side boundary which
together with the single-storey form is considered sufficient to ensure the proposal did not
result in unacceptable harm to neighbouring amenity or its countryside location.

7.0

RECOMMENDATIONS

7.1

it is recommended that planning permission is granted subject to the appropriate conditions
as detailed below:

1

Plans list

2

Standard Time Condition: The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the
expiration of three years from the date of this permission.
Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990

3

Regulatory Condition: The materials and finishes of all new external walls, windows and
roofs of the development hereby permitted shall match in type, colour and texture those of
the existing building.

Page 82

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and in accordance with Policy 33 of the
Horsham District Planning Framework (2015).

Page 83

This page is intentionally left blank

12) DC/21/0127
Lower Toat Barn, Five Oaks Road, Slinfold

¯

For Business use only - not for distribution to the general public
14

12

Bramble
Hill
Farm

Pond

Bramble Hill Cottage
Waterside

Pond
39.5m

a
Tr
ck

Footbridge

Toat Hill Farm Lower Toat Barn
Pond

49.5m

CR

Pond

I LL

ED

y
Bd

Littlefold

FB
Lower Toat
Cottage

Beggars
Roost

Koinonia
Willow Cottage
Pond

FB
FB

)
(um

Silver Birches

h
Pat

H
AT
TO

Dr
ain

Pond
Toat Hill
House

Stone House

Pond

Wildacres

Scale: 1:2,500
Reproduced by permission of Ordnance Survey map on behalf
of HMSO. © Crown copyright and database rights (2019).
Ordnance Survey Licence.100023865

Organisation
Department
Comments

Horsham District Council

Date

21/10/2021

Page 85MSA Number

100023865

Old
Pinkhurst

This page is intentionally left blank

